Public Document Pack

AGENDA
Committee

-

CABINET

Date & Time

-

Tuesday, 27 April 2021 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

This will be a meeting held in line with The
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority &
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England &
Wales) Regulations 2020
The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and
streamed live, via the following link:
www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/

Membership of the Cabinet:
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), P E Coupland (Deputy Leader), C N Worth (Deputy
Leader), A Casson, H Drury, R Gambba-Jones, R Grocock, C J Lawton, E J Sneath and
G J Taylor
No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.
Note:

Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels. They
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current
committee cycle.

Persons attending the meeting are
requested to turn mobile telephones to
silent mode
Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE
Date: 19 April 2021
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Page 1

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet
held on 16 February 2021 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declarations of Interest. (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a
Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4.

Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution
(Standing Orders).

5.

To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.

6.

To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules.

7.

Review of Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy To seek approval of the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy,
and to advise members of the consultation process required to
implement a new policy (report of the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private
Sector Housing and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)
enclosed).

(Pages
17 - 48)

8.

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue
Account To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire eight s106
affordable homes on a development site in the district (report of the
Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages
49 - 60)

(Pages
5 - 16)

(Please note that the appendix to this report is not for publication by
virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as item 13).
9.

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire twelve new
build homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the
district (report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning and the
Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).
(Please note that the appendix to this report is not for publication by
virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or business

Page 2

(Pages
61 - 72)

affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as item 14).
10.

Welland Homes Business Plan Update, incorporating Holbeach Road,
Spalding To present a business case to Cabinet and to present to Council, as
sole shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the Company
to purchase six houses for the purposes of market rental investment and
an updated Welland Homes Business Plan (report of the Executive
Director Commercialisation (S151) enclosed.

(Pages
73 - 82)

(Please note that the appendix to this report is not for publication by
virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as item 15).
11.

Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -

Note:

(i)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s)
should be considered as a matter of urgency.

(ii)

Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

12.

Exclusion of the Press and Public To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.

13.

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue
Account Exempt appendix to the report at agenda item 8 enclosed.

(Pages
83 - 84)

14.

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account Exempt appendix to the report at agenda item 9 enclosed.

(Pages
85 - 86)

15.

Welland Homes Business Plan Update, incorporating Holbeach Road,
Surfleet Exempt appendices to the report at agenda item 10 enclosed.

(Pages
87 - 92)

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
- 21 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in line with The Local Authorities & Police
& Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 16 February 2021 at
10.00 am.
PRESENT
G A Porter (Leader)
P E Coupland (Deputy
Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy
Leader)
A Casson

R Gambba-Jones
R Grocock
C J Lawton

G J Taylor

Executive Support Members: A C Beal
The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Manager Delivery,
the Executive Manager Governance, the Strategic Finance and Compliance
Manager, the Strategic Housing Manager, the Revenue and Benefits Operations
Manager, the Recovery and Support Team Leader, the Senior Change, Innovation
and Performance Business Partner, the Democratic Services Team Leader and the
Democratic Services Officer.
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors H Drury,
E J Sneath, J R Astill, J L Reynolds and A M Newton, together with Lincolnshire
Community & Voluntary Service and Lincolnshire Police.
In Attendance: Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel),
Councillor A R Woolf (Chairman, Policy Development Panel) and Councillor T A
Carter (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee).

Action By

58.

MINUTES
The minutes of the following meetings were agreed as a correct
record, and signed by the Leader:




59.

Cabinet – 15 December 2020
Special Cabinet meeting – 12 January 2021
Special Cabinet meeting – 26 January 2021

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.
Councillors Alcock and Coupland did not have a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest, but in the interests of transparency declared
that, in relation to agenda items 12 and18, they were on the

Page 5

- 22 CABINET - 16 February 2021

Board of Directors of Welland Homes Ltd.
Councillor Grocock did not have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest,
but in the interests of transparency declared that, in relation to
agenda items 12 and 18, he was a Shareholder Representative
for Welland Homes Ltd.
The Leader of the Council declared an interest in relation to
agenda items 12 and 18 - although he did not know the builder in
question, it was likely that he would know of, have connection to
or be in competition with individuals involved and would therefore
not take part in the discussion. He left the meeting during
consideration of these items.
The Leader of the Council declared an interest in relation to
agenda items 13 and 19 as they related to the purchase of new
properties, and he was likely to know individuals involved. He
would take no part in the discussion, and left the meeting during
consideration of these items.
60.

QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).
There were none.

61.

TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT
TO CALL-IN.
There were none.

62.

TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS
There were none.

63.

Q3 PERFORMANCE REPORT
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader of the
Council which provided an update on how the Council had
performed for the period 1st October 2020 to 31st December 2020.
Member were advised that it was generally a positive report, with
the following notable achievements:
 The Waste Collection Service had achieved its highest
collection rate since mid-2016, which was a very encouraging
achievement, particularly in view of the ongoing Covid
pandemic and the recent bad weather;
 The percentage of calls answered by the Customer Contact
Service was 93.5%;

Page 6

- 23 CABINET - 16 February 2021



There had been an improvement in Council-wide sickness of
approximately 25%, in terms of days lost per full-time
equivalent.

Unfortunately, the incidence of fly tipping continued to increase,
rising by 98 incidents since the last quarter. The East Coast
Community Safety Partnership was working with partners and
Lincolnshire Police to introduce cameras, and using the evidence
from them to assist in identifying perpetrators. Lincolnshire Police
were stopping vehicles more regularly, there was increased interagency work across the county to share intelligence, and social
media was being used on a regular basis to highlight the issue of
fly tipping. Unfortunately, investigations had been impacted as a
result of courts being closed as a result of the Covid pandemic –
there was a significant backlog which had had a detrimental
impact on the Council taking cases through for prosecution, but
as the Covid situation improved, the backlog of cases for
prosecution should also improve.
DECISION:
That the contents of the report be noted.
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing
Reasons for decision:
 To ensure that the Council’s performance is properly
scrutinised.)
64.

2020/21 FINANCE REPORT QUARTER 3
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Strategy & Partnerships and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which provided information on the
Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2020) financial position of the Council.
Members were advised that the wording in recommendation 3 of
the report needed to be changed to the following:


That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital
Programme be approved as set out in tables 5 and 7 of Appendix A.

DECISION:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved
contributions to and use of reserves be noted.

Page 7

- 24 CABINET - 16 February 2021

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account
Capital programme be approved as set out in tables 5 and
7 of Appendix A.
4) The NNDR S31 grant for expanded retail relief and the
nursery reliefs in 2020/21 is carried forward in reserves to
cover the NNDR deficits recognised in 2021/22 (as detailed
in section 5.3.1)
5) That the income received from the NNDR & Council Tax
income compensation scheme be carried forward in a
reserve to cover the deficits recognised in future years (as
detailed in section 5.3.2)
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing
Reasons for decision:
 To provide timely information to Members on the overall
financial position of the Council.)
65.

2020/21 FINAL BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL
STRATEGY
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Strategy & Partnerships and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which considered the Final General
Fund and Housing Revenue Account 2021/22 revenue and capital
estimates and the Final Financial Medium Term Plan for
recommendation to Council.
The Portfolio Holder highlighted the following areas:






The process of bringing the budget together had been a
difficult one, with criteria changing on a weekly basis.
The budget was based on the assumptions known at the time
of writing and included any impact that Covid-19 might have
on next year’s or future year’s budgets;
Since the report had been published, the Local Government
Settlement for 2021/22 had been announced and approved
and there had been no material changes to any applicable
numbers presented within the report;
Since the draft budget had been presented to Cabinet on 12
January, staff had finalised estimates, included savings
proposals, and considered feedback from Budget consultation
and scrutiny. This had resulted in some changes to the
budget, including revision to Business Rates and Council Tax
income projections and amendments to forecasts for

Page 8

- 25 CABINET - 16 February 2021

investment income and industrial units;
General Fund
 There was continued and unprecedented uncertainty around
business rates and the fair funding review and a prudent
position on estimates going forward had been taken;
 The budget requirement for 2021/22 was £12.4million, which
included an initial savings target of £1.67 million;
 Numerous savings and income generating opportunities had
been identified, and these continued to be explored;
 Savings requirements had arisen due to a number of historic
budget variations (reduction in Planning fee income, cost of
fleet maintenance, inclusion of the Pride initiative to base
budget, impact of an assumed 2% staff pay award, minimal
increase in funding due to delay of fair funding review, and
increased cost of homelessness). In addition to these, the
following assumptions were also built into the base budget to
support the bottom lines savings figure - Business Rates
(South Holland was not in the pool for 2021/22 and
assumptions were based on 2020/21 activity with an increased
allowance for closed businesses); reduced income from the
recovery of new housing benefit overpayment due to
continued move to universal credit; Drainage Board levies
increased by 2%; and the 2021/22 RSG and RSDG funding
confirmed for a further year.
 The proposed Council Tax increase of £4.95 on a Band D
would go some way to offset these pressures
Covid-related factors that would impact the budget going forward
 A Covid-related budget was included in the estimates, with a
reduced interest rates forecast on investments, which was
expected to continue for at least the next 2 years;
 Based on 2020/21, it was anticipated that the following areas
would incur additional Covid costs – leisure services, the
South Holland Centre, waste management, fees and charges,
Business Rates and Council Tax – these were all major items
that could affect the Budget going forward
 The Government were providing Covid support packages for
2021/22 to mitigate these pressures – part of a £1.55billion
local funding package being provided to local authorities,
South Holland would receive £477,000; sales fees and
charges income recovery would be guaranteed, and extended
to the first quarter of 2021/22; £762million Council Tax and
Business Rates Income Guarantee Scheme which covered
75% of irrecoverable losses incurred in 2020/21; and the
2020/21 Collection fund of Council Tax and Business Rates
deficit that was likely to be incurred, could be spread over 3
years;
 Apart from 3 year collection spread, no cost pressures or
mitigations were currently reflected in the 2021/22 estimates
as it was anticipated that one would offset the other however,

Page 9

- 26 CABINET - 16 February 2021

this would have to be closely monitored.
Housing Revenue Account
 There was a forecast surplus of £1.97million which reflected a
rent increase of 1.5 % from 2020/21 to 2021/22, in line with
government guidelines, an assumed rent loss of 1% for void
properties, and 1.5% for bad debts.
 Estimated net rent arising from additional units was included
within the HRA Capital Programme from 2019/20 onwards,
and a review of charges where appropriate.
 The position of the HRA was encouraging and it was
anticipated to perform well.
Capital
 The General Fund Capital Programme totalled £19.8million
over the medium term and the HRA totalled £41million.
In summary, Covid had had a severe impact on the current year’s
budget for all Councils across the country, including SHDC’s
budget, and the 2021/22 budget was forecast to balance with a
savings efficiency programme attached of £1,676,000.
Members noted that there had been a number of one-year-only
lower tier grants (such as the New Homes Bonus) awarded. It
was disappointing that the Government could not provide a longer
term funding solution as the award of a grant for only one year
would result in pressures in future years. The Portfolio Holder
agreed that this was unfortunate, but that short term grants had
assisted in the last year, as reflected in the Quarter 3 report. The
Covid situation going forward would determine if further
Government grants in the future would be available.
The Leader requested that, when the report was presented to
Council for consideration in March, that all of the bullet points
detailed in Recommendation 2 below be separated out as
separate recommendations.
DECISION:
1) That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director
Commercialisation (S151), in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Finance, Strategy & Partnerships, to make any
necessary amendments to the budget prior to Council due to
late notifications.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
2) That the following be recommended to Full Council:
a) That the Revenue Estimates for the General Fund,
Housing Revenue Account and Spalding Special Expenses

Page 10

- 27 CABINET - 16 February 2021

for 2021/22 (Appendices A, B, C and I) be approved
b) That the use of reserves (Appendix D) be approved
c) That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2021/22 be
set at £123.12 (a £3.30 per annum increase on 2020/21
levels) and band D £184.68 for 2021/22 (a £4.95 per
annum increase on 2020/21 levels).
d) That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property
be set at £16.12 for 2021/22, (previously £15.88 in
2020/21) and Band D £24.18 for 2021/22, (previously
£23.82 in 2020/21).
e) That the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Appendix B) be
approved.
f) That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents
increase by 1.5% over the previous year, 2020/21, with
effect from Monday 5th April 2021. This is in line with
current government guidelines and legislation.
g) That the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme
(Appendices E and F) be approved.
h) That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the
Minimum Revenue Provision policy and Investment
Strategy be approved (Appendix G and H).
(Other options considered:
 No alternative options were presented but amendments
could have been made by the Cabinet before release to
Council.
Reasons for decision:
 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework)
66.

DISCRETIONARY COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT - POLICE
SPECIAL CONSTABULARY
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Strategies & Partnerships and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which considered the introduction of a
Council Tax discount for members of the Police Special
Constabulary.
Members felt that it was important to recognise the efforts of the
Police Special Constabulary who volunteered to undertake an
important job for the community.
DECISION:
That the introduction of a 25% Council Tax Discount as a ‘class of
case’ for members of the Police Special Constabulary,
administered under the discretionary provisions of Section 13A (1)
(c) Local Government Finance Act 1992, be approved.

Page 11

- 28 CABINET - 16 February 2021

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing – do not progress with the introduction of a
discount scheme for SC’s, the Local Council Tax Support
(CTS) scheme already exists to provide support to low
income/benefit households, and this scheme is accessible
to all residents with a Council Tax liability, including SC’s.
Reasons for decision:
 Members of the Special Constabulary who reside in South
Holland would benefit from a reduction in their Council Tax,
in recognition of the service they provide in Lincolnshire
and in turn providing an incentive for recruitment and
retention.)
67.

DEBT WRITE OFF
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Strategies & Partnerships and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which sought approval for the write-off
of uncollectable debt.
Members noted that the report contained a breakdown of the
individual debts within Appendices A – C, which were not for
publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any
individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information).
Members agreed that only the principles of the report would be
discussed and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go
into private session.
The report highlighted the impacts on collection and enforcement
of Council Tax and Business Rates as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic. Not all of the debts that were proposed to be written
off would be a cost to South Holland District Council – the
indicative total cost to the council was £12,556..
DECISION:
That the amounts identified in the report, as detailed below, be
approved for write-off:
Council Tax
Business Rates
Sundry Debt
Total

£9,803.88
£24,872.58
£1,607.36
£36,283.82

(Other options considered:

Page 12

- 29 CABINET - 16 February 2021

 Do nothing
Reasons for decision:
 All recovery methods have been considered and where
appropriate pursued, before making the decision to write
off.
 Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the
same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt
management are in place across all revenue streams.
68.

WELLAND HOMES BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Assets & Planning and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which presented an updated Welland
Homes Business Plan and a proposal from the Company to
purchase four houses for the purposes of market rental
investment.
Members wished to discuss the information included within the
exempt appendix to the report, prior to agreeing the
recommendations. It was therefore agreed that the item be
deferred until later in the meeting, and that discussion on the
report, and agreement of the recommendations be undertaken in
confidential session, once all open items on the agenda had been
considered.
(The Leader left the meeting at the start of consideration of this
item, and re-entered the meeting following completion of the
discussion).

69.

ACQUISITION PROJECT TO PURCHASE S106 UNITS
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio holder for
Assets & Planning and the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (S151) which set out details of the potential for
the authority to acquire seven s106 homes on a development site
in the district.
DECISION:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition
of the seven identified properties, for the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation
(S151) to agree the contractual matters (including any
terms and conditions which may represent a minor
variation to the scheme approved in the business case)
such as signing the contract/transfer document and other
incidental actions that may be required and approving the

Page 13

- 30 CABINET - 16 February 2021

associated due diligence and valuation required to
purchase the properties.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
3) To amend the Capital Programme to identify this project as
an approved scheme in the 2020/21 Budget.
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing – Under this option, the authority would not
proceed to purchase the properties and as a consequence
officers would seek to identify alternative appropriate
schemes for consideration by Cabinet and Council.
Reasons for decision:
 A return on investment, and the generation of capital
receipts from the sale of the initial tranche of shared
ownership properties. As set out within the financial
evaluation (Appendix A), there is a positive business case
associated with the proposed investment.
 The delivery of 7 additional bungalows into the HRA. This
includes homes to meet the needs of those who require
low cost rented accommodation, and those who require
support to access the ‘housing ladder’.
 Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet
housing need in a location where there is evidence of a
need for additional affordable homes.
 The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy. On
average, 23 Council homes have been purchased by
tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the Right To
Buy. Since 1st April 2020, a further 11 properties have been
sold to tenants. The delivery of new affordable homes can
replace those homes lost each year, mitigating the impact
of these losses on the HRA business plan.
 The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited
RTB receipts. Investing the RTB receipts on new rented
housing ensures that the receipts do not have to be
returned to Government. Additionally, the return to SHDC
will increase as the direct capital invested decreases.
 Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive
purchaser of s106 properties, will provide confidence to
local developers of the authority’s aspiration to facilitate
sites to come forward and also of the demand for S.106
affordable homes.)
(The Leader left the meeting at the start of consideration of
this item, and re-entered the meeting following completion of
the discussion).

Page 14

- 31 CABINET - 16 February 2021
70.

ACQUISITION PROJECT TO PURCHASE S106 RENTED
UNITS
Members were advised that this item had been withdrawn from
the agenda, and would be considered at a future meeting.

71.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE
URGENT.
There were none.

72.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
DECISION:
Under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public were excluded from the meeting for the following
item of business on the grounds that it involved the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

73.

WELLAND HOMES BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE
Members considered a proposed new business scheme in
respect of the acquisition, by Welland Homes, of four properties
located in Holbeach for open market rent. The Board of Welland
Homes had approved the business case but, as sole shareholder,
the business case and associated changes to the Welland Homes
Business Plan required Council approval.
In assessing the proposal, members had regard to the content of
the exempt appendix, a financial evaluation of the business case.
DECISION:
1) To approve the business case for the acquisition by
Welland Homes Ltd of four houses, for the purposes of a
market rental investment.
2) That, subject to the refreshed business plan and budget
being approved by the Council in accordance with
recommendation 3 below, delegated authority be granted
to the Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151
Officer), to (i) approve the terms of any loan agreements
required; (ii) approve the value and the profile of any
periodic cash flow payments to be made to the Company;
as required to support the Company in the acquisition of
the proposed investment properties.

Page 15

- 32 CABINET - 16 February 2021

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
3) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be
approved, and included as an amendment in the SHDC
Quarterly report to members for quarter 1 2021/22.
4) To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on
25th March 2015, to the Executive Director –
Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final
mix of use of reserves and borrowing in line with the
business plan and Council Treasury Management
Strategy.
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing – without the approval of the shareholder,
Welland Homes would be unable to proceed with the
proposed investment which would in turn limit the delivery
of housing from Welland Homes under the existing
Business Plan and leave the Company unable to deliver
forecasted returns.
Reasons for decision:
 Supports the delivery of the wider Welland Homes
Business Plan, which will in turn support the delivery of
savings targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Plan;
 Increases housing supply to address demand;
 Boosts to the local economy;
 Improves the quality of rented sector accommodation; and
 Generates income for the Council.)
(The Leader left the meeting at the start of consideration of this
item, and did not return as this was the final item for discussion).

(The meeting ended at 11.13 am)
(End of minutes)

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 3 March 2021.

Page 16

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)

To:

Cabinet, Tuesday 27 April 2021

(Author:

Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager)

Subject

Review of Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy

Purpose:

To seek approval of the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy to
advise Members of the consultation process required to implement a new
policy.

Recommendation(s):
1) That Cabinet adopts the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy, subject to formal
consultation with partner Registered Providers.
2) That Cabinet delegates amendments to the appendices of the Policy and minor
operational amendments, following consultation with partner Registered Providers, to the
Housing Landlord Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA &
Private Sector Housing.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Councils are legally required to have a policy on how they allocate social housing within
their district. The policy was last reviewed in 2019, however this was a minor review
resulting in limited changes. The last major review was conducted in 2015.

1.2

It is essential that the Allocations Policy is reviewed regularly to ensure that it meets current
legislation & case law, and reflects the latest Council priorities. Officers are recommending
a fundamental review is conducted to reflect:
 The impact of Covid-19 on the economy and housing market including changes to
housing legislation and housing policy as a result of Covid-19
 Experience and learnings from implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017
 Feedback from developers and Registered Providers on the data supporting local
housing need when considering building properties in the district.

1.3

The aim of the policy is to:
 Provide an accessible, fair and transparent service


Meet local housing needs



Meet the housing needs of the most vulnerable



Prioritise those with the greatest/most urgent housing needs



Make the best use of existing social housing stock



Support safe and sustainable communities



Offer applicants choice in relation to available accommodation.

Page 17

1.4

The proposed new policy has the following key changes:
 NEW Four bands to allow for additional levels of housing need to be considered
(replacing the current three band system).
 Revised local connection criteria to reflect the local connection criteria set out in
the Housing Act 1996 and the Homeless Reduction Act 2017. This allows for more
transparency and consistency across Housing duties and resolves current
difficulties with discharging homeless duties.
 NEW Allowance for households without a local connection to join the Register
where they contribute to the district and have a housing need. (These cases will
be limited to band four - awarded the lowest priority).
 NEW restriction of choice on location and property type when the household is in
urgent need of rehousing (homeless/threatened with homelessness). Locations
and property types are assessed by the Housing Officer as part of a suitability
assessment in line with Housing Act 1996. This assessment will take into account
place of work, schools and support networks.
 NEW reduced number of offers of accommodation available to those in urgent
housing need to increase turnover of the Register and resolve homelessness.
 NEW increased household income threshold set at one-third of the average
lower quartile housing sale price for the district (published by Hometrack).
This figure will be set annually in April based on the figure published for October of
the preceding year (as the figures are published every six months). For 2021/22,
the limit per household is £49,998 gross income. This will allow more households
to join the Register and to show a true reflection of the housing need in the district
to Registered Providers/developers who wish to deliver additional affordable
housing in the district.
 Revised ‘unacceptable behaviour’ definition to ensure that sustainable tenancies
are achieved, as a way of encouraging those with previous poor tenancy conduct
to address their circumstances and carry out more actions before they access the
Register. Debt as a result of Covid-19 or redundancy will not be held against the
applicant.
 Changing to order of priority of the banding system for people threatened with
homelessness to discourage people from seeking notice from their landlord to
increase priority – no benefit to households becoming homeless and making
homelessness declarations. The Register is currently ‘top heavy’ with the High
band primary consisting of homeless household’s. This approach results in
accommodation primarily being let to homeless households, and we believe this
deters households in lower bandings from resolving their housing situation. This
policy change is made in order to dispel the myth that you need to make a
homeless declaration to the council in order to be housed.
 NEW management category to assist partner Register Providers and the Council
in best management of stock which in turn creates further properties for letting
through the Register. This includes priority for applicants releasing a significantly
adapted property where the household no longer needs those adaptations.
 NEW expectations to complete all steps set out in the Personal Housing Plan at
point of offer (where applicants are threatened with homelessness or are
homeless). Making individuals take ownership of their issues and complete steps
such as seeking debt advice to support them in sustaining a tenancy in the future
 Revised bedroom standards to include unborn children post 26 weeks pregnancy
in the bedroom standard calculation. This will limit the demand on our shortage of
1 bedroom properties and reduce unnecessary voids following households moving
again once the baby is born.
 NEW Prioritisation for significantly adapted properties to be let to those that need
the adaptations rather than those in highest housing need.
 NEW Letting properties in new developments to applicants from a mixture of

Page 18






bands one and two (rather than those in greatest priority) to ensure that new
balanced sustainable communities are created and the place shaped.
NEW ‘other forms of tenancies’ category to allow private tenants with no housing
issues to qualify in recognition of their six month tenancy term. Allowing these
households to qualify will also result in the Register showing a truer reflection of
the housing need in the district.
Additional steps at sign up of SHDC tenancies for those in receipt of/moving onto
Universal Credit (to avoid delays in Housing Cost payments and so reduce
chance of rent arrears)
Revised Housing Assessment Panel membership involving partner Registered
Providers to improve and foster good working relationships.

1.5

The Homelessness Reduction Act supports the revised approach to this policy, by
rebalancing the relationship between the Council and its residents so that they become
more active, independent and self-reliant; and are fully engaged in finding solutions to
their problems. The Allocations Policy supports this direction of travel by the messages it
gives, and the behaviour it encourages e.g. reduced priority for worsening circumstances,
increased priority for those managing tenancies successfully. These changes will allow
the Council to be more selective about new tenants (requiring them to address their
circumstances before being re-housed), set a higher standard and deliver more
sustainable tenancies.

1.6

This policy reflects informal feedback from partner Registered Providers and they support
the changes. Following Cabinet approval, we are required to formally consult with
partner Registered Providers.

1.7

No changes have been made to the Sheltered Housing criteria, this remains the same as
the existing policy. A review of the criteria will be conducted in 2022/23 following the
implementation of the Sheltered Housing review.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

That Cabinet adopts the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy, subject to
formal consultation with partner Registered Providers. That Cabinet delegates
amendments to the appendices of the Policy and minor operational amendments,
following consultation with partner Registered Providers, to the Housing Landlord
Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector
Housing.

2.2

That we do nothing and continue to adopt the 2019 policy.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The policy needs to be reviewed in order to reflect the changing housing landscape
nationally and locally in response to Covid-19 and the Homeless Reduction Act.

3.2

The revised changes will allow greater numbers of households to join the Register. Whilst
we will still not allow tenants who have poor tenancy conduct to join the Register, we will
allow a greater number of circumstances to qualify by partially relaxing qualification criteria.
This will be a truer reflection of the housing need in South Holland and attract additional
building of social housing in the district, investment of funding from Homes England and
Registered Providers.

Page 19

3.3

Changes proposed focussed on households threatened with homelessness or homeless
will dispel the myth that you need to be homeless to be housed by the Council and support
Officers’ advising applicants to take responsibility of their own circumstances and seek
alternative accommodation. It is hoped that this approach will also see a reduction in the
number households making declarations as homeless to the authority.

3.4

The review continues to focus the policy to a vision of ensuring allocations for the “Right
Person, Right Place, Right Time and at the Right Price”.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The revised Policy continues to support the Council’s digital agenda by encouraging
applicants to self-serve.

4.2

The partial relaxation of qualification criteria is intended to increase the number of
applicants on the Housing Register which will support additional social housing being
delivered in the district from Registered Providers.

4.3

Social housing properties are used effectively, for example ensuring that properties with
adaptations are only let to households that need the adaptations, rather than removing
expensive equipment from properties

4.4

To reinforce the positive characteristics of local people to engage in finding their own
solutions to housing problems and, to become independent and resilient.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1
5.1.1

Constitutional & Legal
Housing matters, including this policy, are executive functions and are therefore a matter
for the Cabinet to determine.

5.1.2

This policy has been reviewed by Housing solicitors, Capsticks. Further checks were
conducted by Capsticks in December 2020 following MHCLG issuing new allocations
guidance on 31 December 2020 in response to the UK leaving the EU. A further check on
this section of the policy will be completed before the report is presented to Cabinet.

5.1.3

S166A of the Housing Act 1996 requires local housing authorities to consult on major
changes to its allocations policy. We have informally sought feedback from partner
Registered Providers, however appropriate formal consultation will be undertaken following
approval of this Policy by Cabinet.

5.1.4

Information sharing agreements will be entered into with each Registered Provider in order
for the Council to share information on prospective tenants.

Page 20

5.1.5 It is proposed that approval of minor changes following consultation are delegated to the
Housing Landlord Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA &
Private Sector Housing. This will also for any further immigration changes to be
implemented as a result of the UK leaving the EU and any minor changes to be made
following formal consultation with Registered Providers.
5.2
Corporate Priorities
5.2.1 This policy supports the following corporate priorities:
 Your home – mitigating and preventing households becoming homeless by
managing tenancies effectively, addressing housing need earlier (by allowing
greater number of households to qualify to access the Register) and being a
landlord of choice
 Your place – managing estates within communities to ensure they are attractive
places to visit, live and work
 Your health and wellbeing – assessing vulnerable tenants regularly and referring
to partner agencies to influence and lead early intervention activities to support,
reduce and prevent complex needs. Delivering sustainable tenancies.
 Our Council – ensuring that Officers report and manage concerns regarding
safeguarding and modern day slavery, making us a landlord of choice.
5.3
5.3.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
The Council promotes equal opportunities and aims to implement and maintain services
that ensure no applicant is treated unfairly on the grounds of age, gender identity, marital
status, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, race, religious belief or disability or
disadvantaged by the application of criteria that has a direct or indirect discriminatory effect
that cannot be justified by law. An equality and impact assessment has been completed.

5.3.2

Preference for allocations will be given to applicants in the reasonable preference
categories as per the Housing Act 1996 and local lettings policies will not discriminate
unjustifiably, directly or indirectly, on equality grounds.

5.3.3

The requirement to apply online may impact some community groups who are not IT
enabled. This is mitigated by arrangements in place to support those households who may
not have access to technology to apply online. An example of this is the computer facilities
available in the Priory Road reception area as well as the ability for Housing Officers to take
telephone applications/submit applications on behalf of vulnerable individuals that have no
family/support agencies to assist.

5.3.4

We will ensure that applicants are made aware of the consequences of refusing an offer of
accommodation. The refusal will not count where it is determined that the accommodation
offered is not suitable.

5.3.5

Applicants that are threatened with homelessness/homeless will be subject to one offer in
locations deemed appropriate by the Housing Officer. This is due to the severity of the
housing situation and the urgency to secure accommodation. Suitability of offers will be
assessed in line with the Housing Act 1996.

5.3.6

Advice and assistance is available to ensure that the Allocations Policy is accessible for all
applicants. Information can be translated or made available in different formats, such as
large print, upon request.

5.3.7

There is an allowance for housing related debt to be disregarded where there is evidence of
genuine financial hardship or an overriding housing need, this includes those financially
impacted by COVID-19.

Page 21

5.4
Health & Wellbeing
5.4.1 Ensuring that social housing is responsibly allocated will support the health and wellbeing
of the residents of South Holland.
5.4.2 This policy allows for adapted properties to be let those in need of the adaptions as a
priority regardless of their housing need priority. This ensures best use of adaptations and
use of Disabled Facilities Grant funding.
5.5
5.5.1

Reputation
The revised approach to the policy will enforce the change that the Council has adopted
towards residents having personal responsibility for their situation. Setting higher
expectations of applicants will assist in promoting that change in culture.

5.6
Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
5.6.1 Internal feedback has been sought from the Strategic Housing Manager and the Housing
Options Manager.
5.6.2

The policy and proposed changes were presented to Housing Officers on 29 September
2021. Feedback was very positive. Language in the policy was amended following
feedback, employment definition tightened and additional categories included to reflect
household’s staying with family/friends with no security of tenure.

5.6.3

The policy and changes were presented to the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private Sector
Housing, the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning, and the Portfolio Holder for Finance
on 18 December 2020. It was requested that further consideration was made regarding the
definition on household income and reducing the threshold originally proposed.

5.6.4

Members have been informally consulted on the key changes proposed. Feedback was
very positive with questions raised about the approach regarding the letting of new
developments. Officers have had further consideration regarding this section of the policy
and a worked example was presented to Policy Development Panel (PDP). The
recommended option of letting new developments to a mixture of bands 1 and 2 (50:50)
was supported by PDP. This option is recommended by Officers because:
 Band 1 cases will have the most urgent housing need and their circumstances will
have been fully investigated and evidenced by Officers.
 the majority of existing social housing tenants are likely to be placed in band 2.
Councillors suggested increasing the number of properties let to existing social
housing tenants (currently living in the district) as we are aware of their tenancy
conduct and additional checks are carried out before they can access the Register.
The proposed option is different to how new developments are let under the current policy
and Officers anticipate that the changes will deliver a sustainable community that will
integrate into the wider community as the individuals from these two bands will have a
proven history of managing their housing successfully.

5.6.5

Informal feedback was sought from partner Registered Providers and stakeholders in
Autumn 2019. Formal consultation with partner Registered Providers will be sought
following approval of Cabinet.

6

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards are affected.

Background papers:-

None

Page 22

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager
01775 764707
vcherry@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y – the policy will have a significant effect on communities in two or
more Wards of the Council.

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service.
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy
Appendix B
Summary of proposed changes shared with Members as part of
informal consultation
Appendix C
Worked example for allocating properties in new developments

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

South Holland District Council Housing Allocations Policy 2021
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1. The South Holland Housing Allocations Policy sets out how the Council will:
 assess applications for housing,
 determine eligibility, qualification and level of housing need
 prioritise applications
 allocate accommodation.
1.2. In developing this Policy, the Council has taken into consideration the Housing Act 1996
(as amended), the Localism Act 2011, the statutory Code of Guidance on the Allocation
of Accommodation June 2012, and other relevant legislation and government guidance.
Some parts of this policy are set in legislation – it has been highlighted when this is the
case.
1.3. This Policy is consistent with the Council’s Corporate Plan, Countywide Homelessness
Strategy and Rough Sleepers Strategy.
1.4. In developing this Policy, the Council has consulted with staff, partner landlords of social
housing (formerly known as Housing Associations) with stock within South Holland, local
voluntary and statutory agencies and elected members.
1.5. The Council’s objectives for the Housing Allocations scheme are to:
 Provide an accessible, fair and transparent service


Meet local housing needs



Meet the housing needs of the most vulnerable



Prioritise those with the greatest/most urgent housing needs



Make the best use of existing social housing stock



Support and create safe and balanced sustainable communities



Offer applicants choice in relation to available accommodation.

1.6. The Council seeks to give all applicants choice in relation to location of accommodation
but may have to limit choice in certain circumstances, such as where there is limited
availability or where the Council is discharging a statutory duty to a homeless
household.
1.7. Letting of Council properties and nominations to partner landlord’s (set out in 3.1) within
South Holland are covered by this Policy. This includes general needs accommodation
for single persons, couples and families and sheltered accommodation.
1.8. The following types of allocation are not covered by this Policy:
 Tenancy successions


Tenancy assignments, such as mutual exchanges



Tenancy status changes, such as introductory to secure tenancies



Tenancy transfers pursuant to Court Orders



Management Allocations, such as:
o Temporary lettings to existing Council tenants who need to be decanted
pending major refurbishment or repair works

1

Page 25

o

Emergency management moves where there are extenuating
circumstances and partner agencies support this move

o
o

Temporary lettings to homeless households
Where there is a legal requirement to offer accommodation to a household
following a compulsory purchase of a property
Where there is a legal requirement to offer accommodation to a displaced
agricultural worker under the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976.

o

1.9. The Council promotes equal opportunities and aims to implement and maintain services
that ensure no applicant is treated unfairly on the grounds of age, sex, gender
reassignment, marital status, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, race, religious
belief or disability or disadvantaged by the application of criteria that has a direct or
indirect discriminatory effect that cannot be justified by law.
1.10. Personal information that the Council holds in relation to applications will be
processed in accordance with Data Protection legislation. Information may need to be
disclosed to Partner landlords or other landlords who may be able to offer
accommodation. More information about how and why the Council may process
personal data, data protection rights or how to contact the Council’s Data Protection
Officer is available in the Council’s Privacy Notice, accessible on the Council’s website.
2. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
2.1. South Holland District Council and partner landlords are committed to the promotion of
equality of opportunity for all existing and potential applicants wishing to access the
Scheme.
2.2. In drafting this policy South Holland District Council has had regard to its public sector
equality duty under s149 of the Equality Act 2010, in respect of the protected
characteristics set out therein and has had regard to:
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
 Advancing equality of opportunity between different groups; and
 Fostering good relations between different groups.
2.3. As permitted by the Localism Act 2011, preference for allocations will be given to
applicants in the reasonable preference categories and local lettings policies will not
unjustifiably discriminate against persons possessing protected characteristics.
2.4. Where necessary, the Council will seek to provide interpretation and translation
facilities, within a reasonable timescale, as well as using alternative or additional
methods of communication.
3. PARTNERSHIPS
3.1. Applicants will be considered for housing with the following partner landlords by
applying to the South Holland Housing Register:
 South Holland District Council
 South Holland Homes
 Longhurst Group
 Platform Housing Group
 Broadgate Homes
 Accent Housing
 CKH - Cross Keys Homes
2

Page 26






Hastoe Housing Association
LHP- Lincolnshire Housing Partnership
Lincolnshire Rural Housing Association
Muir Group Housing Association

3.2

These partners have been consulted with throughout the development of the policy to
ensure their views could be taken into consideration.

3.3

By making an application to join the Housing Register, the customer consents to their
information being accessed by all our partner landlords.

3.4

Each partner landlord will sign an Information Sharing Agreement with the Council
which requires them to hold all customer information in accordance with data
protection legislation and to take all reasonable care and diligence in performing its
obligations in relation to the Housing Register.

3.5

The partner landlords will not disclose confidential information to a third party except
where:
 the individual who is the subject of the confidential information has consented to
the disclosure;
 the Partner landlord or the Council is required by law to make such disclosures; or
 disclosure is made in accordance with an information sharing protocol.

3.6

The Information Sharing Agreement states that this clause will continue in perpetuity
despite any termination or expiry of the agreement.

3.7

Partner landlords with housing stock within the South Holland district are expected to
let their properties through the Housing Register as nominations. Nominations for s106
properties will be let in accordance with the relevant nomination agreement.

4.

THE HOUSING REGISTER

4.1. The Council maintains a Housing Register of households who are applying for Council
or partner landlord properties within South Holland.
4.2. Applying to the Register
4.3. An individual can only be included on one active application at any one time, either as
a main or joint applicant, or as a member of an applicant’s household.
4.4. Individuals must apply online at www.sholland.gov.uk. Where exceptional
circumstances exist, alternative arrangements will be made available by the Council this may include referring the applicant to an outside organisation.
4.5. Applications from members of staff, board members, employees and their close
relatives
4.6. Council employees, elected members and their immediate relatives may apply for
housing in the same way as other customers. However, those that fall into these
groups must declare their status as part of their application.
4.7. When handling an application from an individual that falls into one or more of these
groups, the Housing Landlord Services Manager at South Holland District Council will
be the officer responsible for verifying and approving the following:
3

Page 27




The level of priority awarded to the application.
The vetting of offers of accommodation made as part of this scheme.

4.8. Young people aged 16 or 17
4.9. Legislation allows for young persons aged 16 and 17 years old to apply to the Register
in the same way as any other customer, however the law prevents those in this age
group from holding the legal interest of a tenancy agreement until they turn 18 years of
age. Any offers of accommodation to a 16 or 17 year old are likely to be dependent
upon the specific requirements of the partner landlord.
4.10. In general, applicants that fall within this age group will only be made an offer of
accommodation where all of the following apply:
 The applicant can provide a nominated adult who can hold the tenancy in trust
until they reach the age of 18.
 The applicant’s support needs have been assessed and they are considered to
be:
o able to maintain a tenancy without support, or
o able to maintain a tenancy with support, and that support arrangements
are in place.
 The applicant has the financial means to cover the rent.
4.11. The details of the specific requirements of each partner landlord can be made
available on request.
4.12. Providing information
4.13. The information included on the application must be accurate. Applicants will be
required to provide documentary evidence to support the information on their
application and demonstrate that they have a housing need, for example proof of
identity, address, income, savings and custody/access to children.
4.14. Applicants who have indicated that they have a medical, mobility, welfare or hardship
need will be required to provide supporting evidence and may need to be referred to
an appropriate agency for an assessment.
4.15. Consent to access data and information
4.16. In order to access the Housing Register, the applicant must grant the Council consent
to make necessary enquiries that will enable it to verify their circumstances. These
enquiries may include:
 Credit agency reference checks in order to verify present and previous
addresses, household information, instances of housing related debt and income
details.
 Cross referencing details with Housing Benefit and Council Tax records.
 Contacting previous or existing landlords to establish whether tenancy terms
have been adhered to.
 Contacting other partner agencies such as the Police and the Council’s
Community Safety Team in order to verify incidents of anti-social behaviour.
 Contacting border agencies and embassies in order to establish whether an
applicant has an interest in land and/or property outside of the UK.

4

Page 28

4.17. The Council may make any further enquiries it deems necessary in order to confirm
the information provided on an application. Applicants may be required to provide
further information and evidence in relation to their circumstances.
4.18. Applicant declaration and false statements
4.19. In order to access the Housing Register, applicants will be required to declare that the
information provided as part of their application is accurate and true. Applicants will
also be asked to declare any of the following:
 Details regarding income and assets, including any interest in land and/or
property.
 Details of any criminal convictions, previous possession orders or injunctions
made against them and any incidents of anti-social behaviour
 Details of any outstanding housing related debts, including rent and mortgage
arrears.
4.20. A number of Acts make it a criminal offence to engage in social housing fraud,
including the Fraud Act 2006. Additionally, it is a criminal offence under s.171 of the
Housing Act 1996 for an applicant to knowingly or recklessly provide false information,
withhold information or allow a third party to provide false information on their behalf in
relation to a Housing Register application. Such an offence could result in prosecution
and an unlimited fine. If an applicant provides false information, withholds information
or allows a third party to provide false information on their behalf, the Council reserves
the right to disqualify the applicant from the register, withdraw any offer of
accommodation and recover possession of any tenancy obtained.
4.21. Statement on choice
4.22. In applying to the Housing Register, applicants will be able to express choice over the
following:
 The areas of the district that they wish to be considered for an allocation of
accommodation
 The broad property type that they wish to be considered for (i.e. house, flat,
bungalow etc) and that meets their needs.
Applicants can vary their choices at any stage during the time whilst they hold a live
Housing Register application.
4.23. Where the Council accepts a Relief or Main Housing Duty (Housing Act 1996), area
choices and property types will be determined by the Council as part of a suitability
assessment.
4.24. Assessment of applications
4.25. The Council will assess completed applications and the supporting evidence provided.
They will decide whether the applicant qualifies for the Housing Register, which
banding is applicable to their circumstances and the type of properties they are eligible
for. Incomplete applications will not be assessed and will be cancelled after 28
calendar days.
4.26. If an applicant is accepted onto the Housing Register, the applicant will be notified of
the band their application has been placed in, the property type and areas they will be
considered for.

5

Page 29

4.27. If an applicant is refused access to the Housing Register, the applicant will be notified
in writing that their application has been refused and the reasons why.
4.28. Changes in circumstances
4.29. Applicants must notify the Council of any relevant change in their circumstances.
Following notification of a change in circumstances, the application will be reassessed
and may be moved from one band to another, or removed from the Register.
Applicants will be notified of the outcome in writing.
4.30. Review of circumstances
4.31. Applicants within Band 1 will be contacted every 6 months to determine whether the
circumstances/needs that led to the award are still prevailing. If upon the Council’s
reassessment a lesser award is given, the application will be given the original date of
registration.
4.32. Applicants within all other bands will be contacted at least every 12 months to
determine whether the circumstances/needs that led to the award are still prevailing.
4.33. Applicants must respond to such requests within a specified time period (normally 14
calendar days). Failure to respond within the specified time period will result in the
application being cancelled.
4.34. If at any time the Council receives evidence that an applicant who has already been
accepted onto the Housing Register no longer qualifies, the applicant will be notified in
writing that their application has been cancelled and the reasons for the cancellation.
The applicant has a right to appeal this decision.
4.35. Application Types
4.36. Any applicant who does not hold an introductory, secure, starter, full assured or fixedterm tenancy with a Council or partner landlord will be regarded as a new applicant.
4.37. Any existing social housing tenant who holds a tenancy (i.e. an introductory, secure,
starter, full assured or fixed-term flexible tenancy) with a Council or partner landlord
will be regarded as a transfer applicant. Social housing tenants can only make a joint
transfer application if both applicants currently hold a joint tenancy. Social housing
tenants who currently hold a joint tenancy can only make an application to transfer
their tenancy if both tenants will be moving together.
5.

ELIGIBILITY FOR OFFERS OF ACCOMMODATION UNDER PART 6 HOUSING
ACT 1996

5.1. In considering an application, the Council will firstly assess if an applicant is eligible for
an allocation of accommodation and secondly, whether an applicant qualifies for an
allocation of accommodation. To join the Register, applicants must be eligible as per
Part 6 Housing Act 1996 and meet the qualification criteria (see section 6).
5.2. Eligibility and/or qualification status can change and accordingly can be reassessed by
the Council at any point. All applicants will be required to provide evidence to verify
both their eligibility and qualification status at the point of application and again at the
point of allocation.
5.3. Persons subject to immigration control - the Housing Act 1996 s160ZA determines that
6

Page 30

a person(s) who fall(s) into the following categories may not be allocated
accommodation:
 A person subject to immigration control within the meaning of the Asylum and
Immigration Act 1996 (unless he or she comes within a class prescribed in
regulations made by the Secretary of State) or
 Other persons from abroad who are not subject to immigration control but are
prescribed by regulations as not eligible for an allocation of accommodation
including British citizens not currently residing in the UK and therefore not
Habitually Resident or
 Any persons who is excluded from entitlement to universal credit or housing
benefit by virtue of s115 Immigration and Asylum Act 1999
5.4

In respect of People from Northern Ireland and those who are Stateless, we will
comply with the Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England)
Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/1294) as amended by the Allocation of Housing and
Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2020.

6.

QUALIFICATION

6.1. An applicant does not qualify to join the Register in any of the following circumstances:
 The applicant or members of their household have been found guilty of
‘unacceptable behaviour’ which would make them unsuitable to be a tenant
including owing a housing related debt (subject to paragraph 6.16 of this
Scheme).
 The applicant or members of their household owns a freehold or long leasehold
interest in a property. The only exception to this is where there is an
overwhelming welfare need, as assessed by the Council and its partners.
 The household’s annual income and/or savings and assets would enable them to
purchase or rent suitable accommodation on the open market.
 The applicant is presently serving a custodial sentence, and therefore unable to
take up an offer of accommodation
 The applicant is incapable in law of holding a legal tenancy
 The applicant has refused the maximum number of suitable offers applicable (as
per 8.32).
6.2. In general, tenants of partner landlords may be considered as qualifying persons at
point of application and offer, but will not be provided with an offer of accommodation
until the following has been satisfied:
 The rent account of their existing property is clear.
 The property has been inspected and has been assessed as being in a good
condition.
 There have been no breaches of tenancy conditions within the last 12 months.
6.3. Tenants of partner landlords who wish to transfer must obtain a written reference from
their landlord covering the points in 6.2 before joining the Housing Register. All transfer
applicants must have held their current tenancy for a period of at least twelve months
before being considered for a transfer. A further reference will be required at point of
offer.
6.4. Unacceptable behaviour

7

Page 31

6.5. Applicants who are unsuitable to be a tenant because they (or any member of their
household) have been responsible for unacceptable behaviour will not qualify to join
the Housing Register for a period of at least 12 months. The applicant’s behaviour,
and that of any household member, will be taken into account at registration and offer
stage.
6.6. Examples of unacceptable behaviour include (but are not limited to):
 Being found guilty in a court of law for any of the following within the last 2 years:
o violence or threats of violence
o domestic abuse
o physical, sexual or financial abuse
o threatening behaviour or intimidation
o harassment
o discriminatory abuse or harassment
o anti-social behaviour
o drug dealing
o property damage
 Giving false information or withholding information in relation to an application for
housing within South Holland or any other area
 Receiving a Possession Order against a social housing tenancy in the last 6
months.
6.7. In determining whether an applicant does not qualify due to Unacceptable
Behaviour, we will consider:
 The seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour
 The duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents
 The length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place
 Relevant vulnerabilities and support needs
 Whether there has been meaningful engagement with support agencies
 Whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the applicant’s
behaviour.
6.8.

Applicants that do not qualify to join the Housing Register due to unacceptable
behaviour will be refused access for a 12 month period. They will be informed in
writing stating the reasons and their right to request a review of this decision.

6.9.

At the end of the 12 month period, the applicant will need to approach the Council
again and provide evidence that their behaviour has improved, and/or that they have
taken action to help improve their chances of being accepted. If they qualify to join
upon reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate band from the
date the application was reassessed.

6.10. We will work collaboratively with the applicant and all relevant agencies including
the police, probation, social services and prison service in an effort to resolve an
applicant’s ineligibility.
6.11. Housing related debt
6.12. Housing related debt concerns the following:
 Rent or service charge arrears for a current or former tenancy or licence
 Recharge debts relating to a current or former tenancy or licence
 Court costs relating to a current or former tenancy or licence
 Debts relating to temporary accommodation placements, such as bed and
breakfast or hostel accommodation placements
8

Page 32





Mortgage arrears
Debts relating to rent in advance/deposit schemes or other homelessness
prevention schemes
Housing Benefit/Universal Credit Housing Cost overpayments.

6.13. Only recoverable housing related debt will be considered. A debt is defined as not
being recoverable where:

the debt is statute barred

the debt is part of an Individual Voluntary Arrangement (IVA) or bankruptcy
arrangement.
6.14. Applicants who owe a housing related debt of £250 or more will not be able to access
the Housing Register until they have adhered to a repayment plan for at least the last
12 consecutive weeks. The repayment plan will be determined by the Council in
conjunction with the applicant.
6.15. Tenants of partner landlords (including tenants of South Holland District Council)
must have clear rent accounts on their existing accommodation.
6.16. If there is evidence of genuine financial hardship or an overriding housing need, an
applicant may be considered to qualify even if they have not been able to consistently
maintain repayments for at least the last 12 consecutive weeks.
6.17. Worsening of circumstances
6.18. Applicants who are found to have worsened their housing circumstances in order to
improve their prospects of receiving an offer of social housing will not be eligible for
inclusion onto the Housing Register. Deliberate worsening of circumstances arises
where the applicant or anyone in their household has given up accommodation that
was suitable for their needs and where there was no requirement or obligation to do
so. For example, an applicant moves from a secure tenancy to an insecure tenancy
and it can be evidenced that they did this deliberately (or against professional advice)
in order to increase their banding.
6.19. If we believe that the applicant has deliberately made their housing circumstances
worse, inclusion onto the Housing Register will be refused for 12 months from the
date the circumstances were worsened. Applicants will be informed in writing stating
the reasons. Applicants will have the right to request a review of this decision.
6.20. At the end of the 12 month period, applicants can request reassessment of their
application. On reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate
band from the date the application was reassessed.
6.21. In some cases, people may have worsened their circumstances but did not do so to
deliberately improve their banding. Reasons may include (but are not limited to) the
applicant or anyone in their household who has within the past 12 months:
 abandoned a previous tenancy
 moved to new housing that is worse than their previous housing without good
reason
 moved from an adapted to an un-adapted home
 sold a property or given notice on a tenancy without getting other housing first.
6.22

In this situation, we will refuse access for a period of 3 months. Inclusion onto the
Housing Register will be refused for 3 months from the date the circumstances were
9

Page 33

worsened. Applicants will be informed in writing stating the reasons. Applicants will
have the right to request a review of this decision.
6.23

At the end of the 3 month period, applicants can request reassessment of their
application. On reassessment, the application will be placed into the appropriate
band from the date the application was reassessed.

6.24

Homeowners

6.25

An applicant is not a qualifying person if they own a freehold or long leasehold
interest in a property anywhere in the world. The only exceptions to this are where
one or more of the following apply:
 Where the council is satisfied that an applicant is legally threatened with
homelessness.
 Where an applicant can demonstrate that there is an overwhelming welfare
need (as assessed by the Council and its partners) that is best met through
accommodation in the social housing sector.
 Where the applicant is applying for and meets the criteria for sheltered
accommodation. In this situation, an applicant will be considered to be a
qualifying person but only for the purposes of being allocated sheltered
accommodation.

6.26

Applicants with sufficient income, savings, assets and equity

6.27

An applicant will not be considered to be a qualifying person if:
 They have sufficient income, levels of assets or savings that would enable
them to purchase or rent suitable accommodation on the open market. The
annual income level will be set at one-third of the average lower quartile
housing sale price for the district (published by Hometrack). This figure will
be set annually in April based on the figure reported for October of the
preceding year. For 2021/22, the limit per household is £49,998 gross
income.
 The threshold for household assets or savings will be consistent with the
Government’s upper limit for savings set out in the common rules of the
DWP Benefit and Pension Rates (or any succeeding publication). For
2021/22, this limit is £16,000.

6.28 Where an applicant has a beneficial interest in a property, the applicant would be
expected to demonstrate appropriate consideration regarding realising this
interest.
6.29 Local Connection
6.30 To enhance mobility within South Holland, we will give preference to applicants with a
local connection to South Holland. Local connection is defined in s199 Housing Act
1996:
 The applicant has lived through their own choice in the Council’s Local
Authority area for the six of the last twelve months, or had at least three years
residence in the district during the previous five years.
 The applicant has parents, adult children, brothers or sisters residing in the
district, and the relatives have been resident for the previous five years
 The applicant or a member of their household have paid employment or a
confirmed offer of paid employment within South Holland. The main place
of work must be located within South Holland and the employment would
10

Page 34




normally need to be for at least 16 hours per week and on a contract that
is permanent or expected to last for a period of at least 12 months).
The applicant is aged 18, 19 or 20 and was looked after, accommodated or
fostered by Lincolnshire County Council between the ages of 16 and 18.
The applicant is a former Lincolnshire County Council care leaver aged
under 25 years and receives advice and support from Lincolnshire County
Council under a ‘pathway plan’.

6.31

Households with no local connection will be able to join the Register if they can
demonstrate contribution to the district and have a housing need. Households in
this category will remain in band 4.

6.32

As per Housing legislation, the local connection test does not apply to certain
members, former members and bereaved spouses or partners of the Regular
Armed forces as set out at paragraph 7.4 of this scheme and as required by
s160ZA(8) of the Housing Act 1996.

7

THE STRUCTURE OF THE PRIORITY BANDING SYSTEM

7.1

A banding scheme has been adopted to prioritise the housing need of applicants.
They are priroitised by date of registration within the band.

7.2

There are four housing bands
 Band 1 – Emergency Priority
 Band 2 – Urgent Priority
 Band 3 – High Housing Need
 Band 4 – Identified Housing Need

7.3

Further information on the banding categories can be found in appendix A.

7.4

Statutory Reasonable Preference

7.5

Section 166A(3) of the Housing Act 1996 states that certain groups of people shall
have ‘reasonable preference’ within any scheme of allocation. These groups are:
 People who are homeless (within Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 as amended
by the Homelessness Act 2002); this includes people who are intentionally
homeless, and those who are not in priority need;
 People who are unintentionally homeless or threatened with homelessness
and who are in priority need who are owed a duty by any housing authority
under section 193 (2) or 195 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (or under Section 65
(2) or 68 (2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation
secured by any housing authority under Section 192 (3);
 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in
unsatisfactory housing conditions;
 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds
relating to disability;
 People who need to move to a particular locality in the area, where failure to
meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to others).

7.6

Additional preference

7.7

Under s166A (3) a scheme of allocation can give additional preference to applicants
with urgent housing needs in the following circumstances:
11

Page 35






Current and former members of the armed forces (even where there is no local
connection) who:
o are serving in the regular forces and are suffering from a serious injury,
illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s
service,
o formerly served in the regular forces,
o have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled to reside in
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death of
that person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces
and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, or
o are serving or have served in the reserve forces and are suffering from a
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to
the person’s service.
Persons who are terminally ill and must move to suitable accommodation
Other exceptional circumstances.

7.8

The date of application is backdated by 12 months in cases where additional
preference is awarded.

8

LETTING PROPERTIES

8.1

Letting Bedroom Standard

8.2

Housing providers will generally let in accordance with the social size criteria,
introduced by the Welfare Reform Act 2012. The rules allow 1 bedroom for
 Every adult couple
 Any other adults aged 16 or over
 Any 2 children of the same sex aged under 16*
 Any 2 children aged under 10*
 Children who can’t share a bedroom because of a disability or medical
condition
 A carer (or team of carers) providing overnight care

8.3

*Unborn children will be taken into account when assessing bedroom eligibility from
week 26 of the pregnancy.

8.4

One spare bedroom is allowed for
 An approved foster carer who is between placements, but only for up to 52
weeks from the end of the last placement
 A newly approved foster carer for up to 52 weeks from the date of approval if
no child is placed with them during that time.

8.5

Rooms used by students and members of the armed or reserve forces will not be
counted as ‘spare’ if they’re away and intend to return home.

8.6

If an applicant shares the care of a child with the child's other parent, the child will be
treated as living with the parent who provides the child's main home. If the child
spends equal amounts of time with both parents, they will be treated as living with the
parent who claims Child Benefit for them. This may mean that the applicant won't be
allowed a bedroom for the child. The partner landlord might be lenient if there is low
demand for the type of property requested and the applicant can provide evidence
they can afford the rent payments.

12

Page 36

8.7

Sheltered housing

8.8

Sheltered Housing provides communal living for individuals who wish to live
independently. Letting of these properties is subject to additional qualification criteria.

8.9

The following will qualify for Sheltered Housing:
 Where the main applicant is at least 55 years of age regardless of sex,
 Where no other member of the household is aged below 45 years of age,
except a partner.
 Where all other ‘qualifying person’ criteria tests in relation to local connection,
unacceptable behaviour, owner-occupation and ‘sufficient resources’ are met.

8.10

The following may qualify for Sheltered Housing:
 The main applicant falls below the automatic qualification age, but in the view
of the Council would benefit from living in the communal environment that
sheltered housing provides including a need for the telecare service, or
 Those ordinarily considered being ‘non-qualifying persons’ on the grounds of
being owner-occupiers or having sufficient resources, but where individual
need is demonstrated.
In this scenario, the following must also be taken into account:
 Whether the applicant has a vulnerability and/or health and wellbeing need
that is best met in a sheltered housing environment.
 Whether the applicant has an overwhelming medical need that is best met in
a sheltered housing environment.

8.11

All applicants for sheltered accommodation must agree to undertake the following:
 To subscribe to and pay for an alarm monitoring and assistance system
 To allow quarterly home visits to test their alarm monitoring and assistance
system.

8.12

Accessible properties for people with disabilities

8.13

Accessible properties are homes that have been designed for or significantly adapted
to meet the needs of people with physical or sensory disabilities. We will prioritise
applicants with an assessed need for accessible accommodation.

8.14

Local lettings policies, planning conditions and s106 Agreements

8.15

The Council may develop Local Lettings Policies for specific properties or areas, in
order to meet local housing need or support the development of balanced and
sustainable communities. Local Lettings Policies include criteria that are designed to
address specific issues or needs. Examples of these criteria include:
 Village or Parish Connection
 Age
 Behaviour.

8.16

Consideration will always be given to the implications of a Local Lettings Policy for
equal opportunities and the statutory ‘reasonable preference’ criteria. Overall,
preference for allocations will be given to applicants in the reasonable preference
categories and local lettings policies will not discriminate unjustifiably, directly or
indirectly on the ground of a protected characteristic. Local Lettings Policies will be
reviewed and removed once their objectives have been achieved.

13

Page 37

8.17

New developments may have planning conditions with letting restrictions or Section
106 agreements. To ensure new schemes deliver balanced, sustainable
communities, we will aim to allocate the new homes to a mixture of applicants with
50% of lets from band 1 and 50% of lets from band 2.

8.18

Offering a property

8.19

The Council reserves the right not to consider applicants in the following
circumstances:
 Where the applicant is already under offer for a different property


Where the applicant poses a risk to individuals or the community where the
property is based



Where there are Local Lettings Plans in place and the individual does not
meet the criteria of the Plan



Where the property is accessible and the household has no need for the
adaptations - we will always aim to let an accessible property to a household
that needs those adaptations. In some circumstances, priority may be given
outside of date or band order, if the property is particularly suitable for the
needs of an applicant.

8.20

Allocations and Offers

8.21

The Council’s Housing Team will allocate properties in accordance with this Policy.

8.22

Properties will be shortlisted in the following order:


By need for specialist components in the property e.g. disabled adaptations



By housing band



By registration date within the band.

8.23

If more than one applicant has the same band and registration date, we will allocate
based on the individual housing circumstances of the case and all relevant factors.

8.24

We will match applicants who have a need for adaptations to accessible properties.
A specialist such as an Occupational Therapist may be consulted on the suitability of
the property.

8.25

Successful applicants will be offered the property in writing and will have 5 working
days to respond to an offer of accommodation. Some applicants may be given longer
to consider an offer, for example where there are identified vulnerabilities that
significantly affect the applicant’s ability to respond.

8.26

In the case of existing tenants of partner landlords (including SHDC Council tenants),
prior to offer, the Council will make contact with the landlord to satisfy themselves
that:



The rent account of their existing property is clear
The property has been inspected and has been assessed as being in a good
condition
 There have been no breaches of tenancy conditions.
The partner landlord is expected to provide this information within 5 working days.
14

Page 38

8.27

All applicants will be required to provide documentary evidence to confirm the
circumstances detailed on their application at the point of offer.

8.28

Additional steps will be required for the following scenarios:


Where applicants are in homeless categories (Relief and Main Duty), a
suitability check is required to confirm the property and location is suitable
for the household. This is because it will be treated as a Final Offer of
accommodation and the duty discharged.



Where applicants owe housing related debt of more than £250, they will
need to supply evidence that they have adhered to a repayment plan for at
least the last 12 consecutive weeks within 10 working days (subject to
paragraph 6.16 of this Scheme). If this is not completed within the
reasonable timescales, then the offer will be withdrawn.



Applicants may be required to complete an affordability assessment to
confirm that the accommodation offered will be suitable. If this is not
completed within the reasonable timescales, then the offer will be withdrawn.



Where applicants are subject to a Personalised Housing Plan all steps will
need to be completed and all evidence provided within 5 working days of the
offer being made. If this is not completed within the reasonable timescales,
then the offer will be withdrawn.

8.29

Withdrawal of offer

8.30

The Council reserves the right to withdraw any offer of accommodation where there
is just cause. The Council will explain to the applicant why an offer has been
withdrawn.

8.31

If the applicant provides proof that demonstrates their circumstances have changed
to such an extent that they are no longer eligible for the property, the offer will be
withdrawn. If the applicant is unable to provide proof of their circumstances, the offer
will be withdrawn and the application will be suspended until the required information
has been provided and the application has been reassessed.

8.32

Refusals of suitable offers

8.33

Failure to respond to an offer within 5 working days will be treated as a refusal. If an
applicant fails to respond to an offer, their application will be suspended pending
contact and confirmation of their circumstances. The application will be cancelled if
there is no contact within 28 days.

8.34

Applicants in ‘homeless’ categories will be subject to one suitable offer of
accommodation in any location that the Council believes to be suitable for the
household. Applicants in all other categories will be subject to a maximum of two
suitable offers. Applicants that have refused their maximum amount of offers will
be disqualified from the Housing Register for a 12 month period, after which time
a new application must be made.

8.35

If a homeless applicant who is owed the Relief Duty under Section 189B of the
Housing Act 1996, the Main Housing Duty under Section 193(2) of the Housing Act
1996 or the Accommodation Duty under Section 193C(4) of the Housing Act 1996
refuses a Final Offer of suitable accommodation, their application will be cancelled
and they will lose their priority status and the relevant homeless duty will be
discharged.
15

Page 39

8.36

Hard to Let Properties

8.37

In order to ensure the best use of available housing stock, consideration will be given
to changes in the qualification criteria for properties for which there is no waiting list.

8.38

The Council may consider advertising hard to let properties and letting these
properties to residents that live in the district but do not meet the local connection
criteria.

8.39

Council tenancy sign-up process

8.40

Before the tenancy is signed and keys released, applicants offered Council properties
will be required to:
 show proof of submission of new tenancy information to DWP or the Council’s
Housing Benefit department. This applies to existing Universal Credit
claimants or new claimants where a move will trigger a Universal Credit claim.
A text message, email or screen shot of the Universal Credit online account
will be acceptable.
 Arrange payment of four weeks rent in advance, unless there are extenuating
circumstances where this amount may be reduced.

9

DISCRETIONARY LETTINGS

9.1

The lettings below can be made at the sole discretion of the Council and fall outside
of the Allocations Policy:
 When one party gives notice on a joint tenancy this has the effect of bringing
the whole tenancy to an end. In the case of existing Council tenancies, the
Council will have regard to all the circumstances of the case and, if so
requested, decide whether to grant a sole tenancy to the former joint tenant
who remains in the property. Factors to be considered include (but are not
limited to) responsibility for children, caring for a relative, the size of the
property having regard to the household size of the applicant requesting the
property, and the demand for that particular property at the time.
 Where the Family Court determines a transfer of tenancy - this is not
considered an Allocation.

10

REQUESTING A REVIEW AND THE HOUSING ASSESSMENT PANEL

10.1. The Housing Assessment Panel will meet once a month and partner landlords will
form part of this panel. A minimum of 3 members will be present.
10.2. The Housing Assessment Panel will consider the following:
 Review requests from the applicant
 Consideration around relaxation of the qualification criteria for exceptional
cases (presented by partner landlords and Council Housing Officers).
10.3. Every Applicant has the right to request a review of;
 the band into which they have been placed
 decisions taken in relation to their Registration
 the suitability of the property/location where they have been offered (for
homeless cases).
10.4. All requests for a review must be:
16

Page 40




in writing, addressed to the Housing Options Manager at South Holland District
Council, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE or email
housingoptions@sholland.gov.uk
received within 21 days from the date of the decision letter, from the
applicant(s) or their representative, clearly stating the grounds on which the
review is being sought and providing any supporting evidence. Verbal
representation will be allowed in exceptional circumstances.

10.5. The Housing Assessment Panel will review such requests and provide a written
response within 56 days of receipt of the request setting out the reasons for the
decision. The outcome of a review will always be given in writing.
Appendix A - Banding Structure
1.

BAND 1 – EMERGENCY PRIORITY

1.1. Applicants in this band will be entitled to one suitable offer of accommodation in any
area of the district that the council considers to be suitable. See section 8 for more
information.
1.2. Homeless Duty
1.3. Homeless applicants who are owed the Main Housing Duty under Section 193(2) of
the Housing Act 1996 by the Council.
1.4. The offer made will be treated as a final accommodation offer. If a homeless applicant
refuses a final offer of suitable accommodation, (which may be an offer of private
sector accommodation), the relevant homeless duty will be discharged and their
application will be reassessed.
1.5. Emergency medical, welfare or hardship
1.6. There is a serious medical condition or disability that is made substantially worse
by the current housing. This would include people whose life is at risk due to their
current housing conditions or who are completely housebound because of the type
of accommodation they live in.
1.7. Dangerous or hazardous housing conditions
1.8. Where an applicant is living in a private rented sector property and the Council has
determined that the property poses a Category 1 hazard (excluding overcrowding)
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, and there is no prospect of the
disrepair being remedied within a timescale that the Council considers to be
reasonable. Additionally, the Council has assessed and is satisfied that as a result of
continuing to occupy, the accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the
applicant’s health.
1.9. A private sector property (either owned or rented) is subject to a Council prohibition or
demolition order for disrepair.
1.10. Where the applicant has been assessed as statutorily overcrowded in accordance with
the Housing Act 1985 and/or the Housing Act 2004. This does not apply if the
applicant has been placed in the accommodation temporarily by the Council.
2.

BAND 2 – URGENT PRIORITY
17

Page 41

2.1. Ready to ‘Move-On’
2.2. Where tenants of supported accommodation are ready to move on, leaving supported
housing as part of an agreed plan to re-integrate into the community. It may be
necessary to defer offers until the move-on plan and support needs have been
assessed.
2.3. Applicants who are residing in accommodation provided by Lincolnshire County
Council under Section 20 or Section 22A of the Children Act and are ready to
move to independent accommodation.
2.4. Applicants residing with family and are at risk of exclusion from the family home and
are ready to live independently. This category will only apply where family have
attended mediation and agreed to continue to accommodate the applicant for at least 6
months.
2.5. Severe moderate medical, welfare or hardship
2.6. The applicant or a member of their household has a medical condition that is severely
impaired by their housing situation or their housing contributes to causing serious ill
health.
2.7. Alternatively, there are exceptional circumstances where the only way a housing need
can be resolved is through the use of discretion. In the interests of fairness to all
applicants, these circumstances are kept to a minimum.
2.8. Management need
2.9. Applicants are social housing tenants within the district and
 have succeeded to or have been assigned a social housing tenancy in the
district and are required to move to alternative accommodation as the property is
not suitable for their needs because of its size or type.
 are occupying a significantly adapted property and they no longer require the
adaptations. (The award will be granted only where the landlord will be given
vacant possession of the property).
 require more bedrooms than they presently have. (This award does not apply
where the applicant has been placed in any interim/temporary
accommodation by any Local Authority).
 are under-occupying the property and willing to downsize to a smaller property
(This award does not apply where the applicant has been placed in any
interim/temporary accommodation by any Local Authority).
 require extensive disabled adaptations and are prepared to move to a property
with such adaptations rather than adapting their existing home. Medical evidence
will be required including Occupational Therapist recommendations.
2.10. Applicants are currently occupying social housing within the district who are not eligible
to succeed to a social housing tenancy in the district but lived in the property with the
tenant for at least 12 months prior to the tenant’s death, and continue to occupy the
property.
3.

BAND 3 – HIGH HOUSING NEED

3.1. At risk of homelessness or homeless
18

Page 42

3.2. The following circumstances will come under this category:
 Applicants who are owed the Prevention Duty under Section 195 of the Housing
Act 1996 by the Council.
 Applicants who are owed the Relief Duty under Section 189B (2) of the Housing
Act 1996 by the Council.
3.3. The offer made will be treated as a final accommodation offer. Applicants in this
category will be entitled to one suitable offer. If a homeless applicant refuses a final
offer of suitable accommodation, (which may be an offer of private sector
accommodation), the relevant homeless duty will be discharged and their application
will be reassessed.
3.4. No security of tenure
3.5. The applicant has no security of tenure, for example lives with a resident landlord or is
lodging with friends.
3.6. Moderate medical, welfare or hardship
3.7. The applicant or a member of their household has a medical condition that is impaired
by their housing situation, but they are generally able to cope.
3.8. Overcrowding, disrepair or other poor housing conditions
3.9. The household requires one or more bedrooms than they presently have and are a
tenant:
 in the private rented sector
 of a partner landlord but their home is outside of the district
 of a non-partner landlord.
3.10. The applicant requires single person accommodation and is living with family or friends
in accommodation where they are sharing facilities (such as bathroom, kitchen or
toilet) without sole use of a bedroom.
3.11. Applicants are living in accommodation that has disrepair, where the issues cannot be
remedied by the landlord within a time period that the Council considers to be
reasonable. This will be assessed in partnership with the Council’s Private Sector
Housing Team.
4.

BAND 4 – IDENTIFIED HOUSING NEED

4.1. Not statutorily homeless
4.2. People who are not in priority need or are considered intentionally homeless and/or
any relief duty has been discharged as per the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.
Applicants in this category will be entitled to one suitable offer.
4.3. Other forms of tenancies
4.4. The applicant is renting a property and is not a social housing tenant.
4.5. Ex-armed forces personnel

19

Page 43

4.6. Applicants who are current or former members of the armed services, or their
bereaved spouse or civil partner, as set out at paragraph 7.5 of this Scheme, will
qualify for a Band 4 award automatically.
4.7. Offer of employment
4.8. Applicants do not currently reside in the district but have paid employment or an offer
of paid employment within the district.
4.9. Relationship breakdown
4.10. Applicant is a joint social housing tenant within the district and has suffered a
relationship breakdown.
4.11. Sheltered Housing benefit
4.12. Applicants have no housing need but are aged 55 or over and seeking sheltered
housing. They would benefit from the provision of a telecare service and the
community aspect that sheltered housing provides.
4.13. No local connection
4.14. The applicant and their household do not meet the local connection criteria however
live in the district or can demonstrate contribution to the district and are in housing
need.

20

Page 44

Housing Allocations Policy – informal Member consultation 4 February 2021
Please find below a summary of the proposed changes to the Allocations Policy. These are the key proposals that Members can shape.
Proposed change
1. Local connection
Applicant resident 6 out of last 12 months or 3 out of
last 5 years, or family members resident last 5 years
2. Unacceptable behaviour – housing related debt
Those with more than £250 housing debt have to set up
payment arrangement for 12 weeks to access Register
3. Income threshold increased
£49,998 - one third of ‘average lower quartile housing
sale price’ for the district in October 2020.

Page 45

4. Private rented tenants recognised
Tenants on Assured Shorthold Tenancies awarded
lowest level of priority because of tenancy type.
5. Homelessness
 Urgent housing cases - one offer of accommodation
only. Officers select locations and property types.
 Reduced priority for those homeless/threatened
with homelessness
6. Unborn children included
Unborn children considered once 26 weeks pregnant
7. Adapted properties
Let to disabled household that needs the adaptations
8. New developments
Properties let to a mixture of bands 1 and 2
9. Management category
Increased priority to existing social housing tenants in
certain circumstances e.g. no longer need adaptations
10. Panel membership
Membership of SHDC Officers and Registered Providers
with housing in the district

Reason for change

Current policy

Definition in Homeless Reduction Act – cannot discharge some
homeless duties currently

 Applicant resident 2 out of last 5 years
 Family members resident last 3 years

Personal responsibility and accountability – improved behaviour More than 8 weeks rent owed to be
of prospective tenants
repaid for 13 weeks
Number of applicants on Register is not a true reflection of
housing need in district. Developers have raised concern about
housing need in the district based on current figures.

Current threshold
 single people £24,628 gross
 other households £43,098 gross

6 month tenancies. Low number of applicants on Register - not
a true reflection of housing need in district

Not able to access Register unless in
housing need.







Applicants selective over property type/location resulting in
unnecessary homelessness declarations.
Register is currently top heavy with homeless cases. Myth
that you need to be homeless to be housed



2 offers made, applicant chooses
location and property type
High priority.

Reduces demand on 1 bed properties and unnecessary voids

Unborn children not currently considered

Correct use of adapted properties – best use of stock

Let to highest housing need

To achieve sustainable developments and shape the Place

Let to high band (band 1) only

Better use of stock – two households off the Register

Not in current policy

More transparent approach

SHDC Officer membership only
Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager. 5 January 2021

This page is intentionally left blank

Allocation of properties in new developments
The Allocations Policy 2021 presented to Policy Development Panel proposes that:
1. There are four housing bands
 Band 1 – Emergency Priority
 Band 2 – Urgent Priority




Band 3 – High Housing Need
Band 4 – Identified Housing Need

2. New developments:
To ensure new schemes deliver balanced, sustainable communities, we will aim to allocate the new homes
to a mixture of applicants with 50% of lets from band 1 and 50% of lets from band 2.
Member feedback following informal consultation
Comments were made regarding the letting of new developments in order to maximise the ability to create a
sustainable, mixed new community. Members suggested that a larger number of existing social housing tenants
moved to the new developments as the Council has more knowledge on these households including how they
conduct their tenancies and the additional checks in place for social housing tenants to access the Register.
Consideration could also be made regarding housing those in lesser housing need in order to give all households a
chance of being offered accommodation.
Worked examples in response to Member feedback
Option 1 – Officers recommended option: 50% of properties let to band 1 and 50% of properties let to band 2.
Applicant
Mr Smith

Band
1
1
1

Plot 4

Miss Jones
Mr Williams and
Miss Walker
Miss Jackson

Plot 5
Plot 6

Mr and Mrs Davies
Miss Thomas

1
1

Plot 7

2

Plot 9

Mr and Mrs
Johnson
Mr Miles and Miss
Sneath
Mr Roberts

Plot 10

Mrs Wright

2

Plot 11

Mr Thompson

2

Plot 12

Mr Greaves

2

Plot 1
Plot 2
Plot 3

Plot 8

1

2
2

Applicant’s circumstances*
Private tenant owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being
satisfied that they were made homeless through no fault of their own.
Private tenant, Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair.
Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and
adaptations are not possible due to property type.
Private tenant owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being
satisfied that they were made homeless through no fault of their own.
Private resident statutorily (naturally) overcrowded
Private tenant unable to be discharged from hospital as current home
not suitable for long term medical conditions
Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland,
under occupying and willing to downsize.
Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live
independently.
Existing SHDC tenant living in an adapted property and no longer
require the adaptations.
Existing Registered Provider tenant succeed to tenancy but does not
need the adaptations in the property
Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property
willing to move to a 1 bedroom
Son of SHDC tenant asked to leave by family and agreed to 6 months
mediation

Option 2 - 33% of properties let to band 1, 33% of properties let to band 2 and 33% of properties let to band 3.
Applicant
Mr Smith

Band
1
1
1

Plot 4

Miss Jones
Mr Williams and
Miss Walker
Mr Greaves

Plot 5

Mr and Mrs Davies

2

Plot 1
Plot 2
Plot 3

1

Applicant’s circumstances*
Owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being satisfied that
they were made homeless through no fault of their own.
Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair.
Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and
adaptations are not possible due to property type.
Private tenant unable to be discharged from hospital as current home
not suitable for long term medical conditions
Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland,
under occupying and willing to downsize.

Page 47

Plot 6

Miss Thomas

2

Plot 7

2

Plot 8

Mr and Mrs
Johnson
Mr Thompson

Plot 9

Mr Roberts

3

Plot 10

Mr and Mrs Wright

3

Plot 11

Mr Thompson

3

Plot 12

Miss Jackson

3

2

Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live
independently.
Existing SHDC tenant living in an adapted property and no longer
require the adaptations.
Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property
willing to move to a 1 bedroom
Living in private rented and has been served notice as landlord wishes
to sell property. SHDC has a duty to prevent homelessness.
Living in private rented and they require one more bedroom than they
currently have following daughter turning 12 - no longer being
reasonable to share bedroom with 8 year old brother.
SHDC tenant living in a house, struggling with arthritis in knees and
requires a bungalow.
Living in private rented accommodation and served notice due to loss
of employment.

Option 3 - 25% of properties let to band 1, 25% of properties let to band 2, 25% of properties let to band 3 and 25%
of properties let to band 4.

Plot 1
Plot 2
Plot 3

Applicant
Mr Smith

Plot 4

Miss Jones
Mr Williams and
Miss Walker
Mr Greaves

Plot 5

Mr and Mrs Davies

Plot 6

Miss Thomas

Plot 7
Plot 8

Mr and Mrs
Johnson
Mr Thompson

Plot 9

Mr Roberts

Plot 10
Plot 11

Mr and Mrs Wright
Mr Thompson

Plot 12

Miss Jackson

Band Applicant’s circumstances*
1
Owed the Main Housing Duty following the Council being satisfied that
they were made homeless through no fault of their own.
1
Council issued prohibition order due to disrepair.
1
Housebound in their current home due to medical reasons and
adaptations are not possible due to property type.
2
Existing Registered Provider tenant living in a three bedroom property
willing to move to a 1 bedroom
2
Existing Registered Provider tenant currently living in South Holland,
under occupying and willing to downsize.
2
Supported housing tenant considered ready to move on and live
independently.
3
SHDC tenant living in a house, struggling with arthritis in knees and
requires a bungalow.
3
Living in private rented accommodation and served notice due to loss of
employment.
3
Living in private rented and has been served notice as landlord wishes to
sell property. SHDC has a duty to prevent homelessness.
4
Evicted by private landlord found to be intentionally homeless
4
Private rented tenant (accessed purely as living in a private rented
property)
4
Living in Peterborough in private rented accommodation, has secured a
job in Sutton Bridge and needs to move closer to access work.

Conclusion
Officers have considered further options following informal consultation with Members, and run through
hypothetical scenarios. Officers recommend option 1 (let new developments to a mixture of bands 1 and 2 (50:50)).
This option is recommended by Officers because:
 Band 1 cases will have the most urgent housing need and their circumstances will have been fully
investigated and evidenced by Officers.
 the majority of existing social housing tenants are likely to be placed in band 2. Councillors suggested
increasing the number of properties let to existing social housing tenants (currently living in the district) as
we are aware of their tenancy conduct and additional checks are carried out before they can access the
Register.
The proposed option is different to how new developments are let under the current policy and Officers anticipate
that the changes will deliver a sustainable community that will integrate into the wider community as the individuals
from these two bands will have a proven history of managing their housing successfully.

Page 48

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning
Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Cabinet – 27th April 2021

To:

Council – May 2021
Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager

Subject:

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account

Purpose:

To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire eight s106
affordable homes on a development site in the district.

Recommendations to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of eight homes within Surfleet for
the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the contractual
matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a minor variation to the
scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the contract/transfer document and
other incidental actions that may be required and approving the associated due diligence
and valuation required to purchase the properties.
Recommendations to Council:
3) To amend the Capital Programme to identify the project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In the last 5 years South Holland District Council has increased investment in new housing
within the district and more recently has strengthened the capacity of the Strategic Housing
Development team. This team appraises potential acquisition and development schemes;
project manages on site delivery; and oversees the handover of new homes into
management for South Holland’s various delivery vehicles.

1.2

Since 2017/18, the Council has supported ten new development schemes:
Scheme
name

Delivery
vehicle

Walters
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

Number
of
dwellings
15

Timescale

Development type

Status

Properties
completed
2017/18

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

1

Page 49

1.3

Tennants
Close,
Long
Sutton

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed
2018/19

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

10

Properties
completed in
May 2019.

Welland Homes
design and build
contract.

Complete

Acquisition
of S106
homes
from
Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

HRA

18

Properties
completing in
phases from
March 2019 to
March 2020.

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.

Properties
complete.
End of
defects
stage.

Small
Drove,
Weston

HRA

34

Deadline to
complete
properties is
March 2021
(as per Homes
England grant
terms).

Design and build
contract.

In
progress

Bentley
Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
Complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Donington
HRA
market
acquisitions

7

Purchase
complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Wignals
Gate,
Holbeach

HRA

19

Properties
completing in
phases from
October 20 to
October 2022

In
progress

Northons
Lane,
Holbeach

Welland
Homes

4

Properties
completing
April 2021

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Cobgate,
Whaplode

HRA

7

Properties due
to complete
Jan – March
2022

Acquisition of
completed S106
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

In
progress

The SHDC Housing Development team has been seeking new development opportunities.
This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and housing associations that
are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district. Through these discussions, a new
scheme to provide eight S106 affordable homes at Surfleet has been identified.
2

Page 50

2.0

SCHEME BUSINESS CASE

2.1

Officers have liaised with a local developer regarding the acquisition of eight two-bedroom
dwellings which is the entire commitment of S.106 affordable housing on the development
at Station Road, Surfleet.

2.2

The units consist of a row of four two-bedroom terraced dwellings for Affordable Rent
tenure together with four semi-detached dwellings for shared ownership. The site has
Planning consent and accordingly the layout and mix of dwellings and tenures has been
approved by SHDC.

2.3

As the homes have been designated as affordable homes in the Planning consent, they
have been designed specifically for that purpose and accordingly are considered
appropriate for the HRA.

2.4

The SHDC Housing Management team have been consulted regarding the scheme and are
supportive of SHDC taking additional homes in this location. They have indicated that the
delivery of these homes would meet housing need as evidenced a Section 6 below.

2.5

Accelerating the delivery of new homes for the HRA will mitigate the impact on the HRA
business plan of the loss of homes through RTB sales. However, it should be noted that if
these properties are purchased and let as affordable homes, the Right To Buy (RTB) will
also apply to these properties. In the event of a RTB application, the ‘cost floor’ rule will
ensure that a tenant’s discount does not reduce the RTB sale price below the amount that
has been spent on the property in the 15 years prior to RTB; this includes the capital costs
of acquisition.

2.6

The details of the eight homes at the centre of this business case are detailed in the table
below.
Location

Plot Type

Tenure

Station
Road,
Surfleet

10

Shared
Ownership
Shared
Ownership
Affordable
Rent
Affordable
Rent
Affordable
rent
Affordable
Rent
Shared
Ownership
Shared
Ownership

18

2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed end terrace house

19

2 bed mid terrace house

20

2 bed mid terrace house

21

2 bed end terrace house

27

2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed semi-detached
house
8

11

28

TOTAL
**Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.
3

Page 51

Indicative handover
date
May 2021**
May 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
May 2021**
May 2021**

2.7

Officers have undertaken a business planning exercise for the delivery of these eight
homes which is provided as a financial evaluation at Appendix A.

2.8

An offer has been made to the developer subject to contract, legal due diligence, and full
approval. This offer has been accepted.

2.9

A formal valuation has been completed on these units by a RICS accredited valuer, which
confirms that the offer price represents good value for money.

2.10

The financial assessment assumes that the Affordable Rented tenure homes will be let at
80% of the local market rent value or at the Local Housing Allowance in accordance with
the S106 agreement. Homes England stipulate a requirement to approve Affordable Rents
being charged on any site which is not grant funded. However, this consent is likely to be
forthcoming. Officers will submit a request to Homes England as part of the due diligence
process. The S106 agreement allows the rented homes to be provided as Affordable Rent
or Social Rent tenure. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the
homes to be provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be
provided as Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk as set out in paragraph 11.4.4.

2.11

In terms of the overall Capital Programme for HRA Housing Development, there is total
approved provision of £13m for schemes subject to detailed approval for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25. To date one HRA scheme has been approved. Accordingly, there is
still sufficient capacity to deliver this project.

2.12

Officers will negotiate a contract for the purchase of these properties which seeks to
provide the most advantageous position for the authority. A solicitor will be appointed to
act on SHDC’s behalf in order to ensure thorough due diligence will be undertaken, prior to
entering contract.

2.13

Given the nature of the homes as S106 affordable housing and the construction stage they
are at (due to practically complete in May 2021), the authority will have limited influence
over the style and construction methodology of the properties. However, they will have to
be delivered in accordance with the contract and with all appropriate regulatory certification
in place. In addition, the properties will be required to benefit from a NHBC/LABC warranty
for a minimum of 10 years. These key documents will be listed within the contract and will
need to be provided prior to completion taking place. The quality of the homes will also be
checked by a Buyers Representative appointed to act in the authority’s best interests.

2.14

In the event, that the homes are not constructed in accordance with the terms of the
contract, the authority will not have to purchase the homes. Officers will maintain regular
contact with the developers through the build process to seek to ensure where possible that
the homes are delivered as agreed and the properties will be required to be provided with a
Warranty for a minimum of 10 years to provide additional insurance

2.15

The process of due diligence may impact contract negotiations as more information is
identified about the scheme. The contract is a negotiation between parties and officers will
endeavour to negotiate the best position for the authority throughout. Any elements that
are different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence
review and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual
matters to purchase the properties.

2.16

The development consists of 32 homes in total with both adopted roadways and private
shared driveways present. The developer has confirmed that no management company
4

Page 52

charge will be applicable to the dwellings contained in this report. The developer has
confirmed that affordable homes will not be party to any management company which may
be established for the remainder of the site, or any additional service charges.
3.0

SHARED OWNERSHIP SALES

3.1

The proposed acquisition includes four shared ownership homes. The Council has already
approved the delivery of 29 shared ownership properties on other sites across the district
which have been selling well. Officer delegations relating to the sale of shared ownership
properties are set out in paragraph 11.1.4 of this report.

3.2

The specialisms surrounding the marketing and sale of the shared ownership homes is
provided by an external agent, Platform Housing Group, following a procurement exercise.

3.3

The financial appraisal provided at Appendix A assumes an initial sale tranche of 35% of
the value of the shared ownership dwellings. This is based on learning from other SHDC
shared ownership sales which has indicated that smaller initial shares are more likely to be
affordable to households in the district.

3.4

The purchaser of any Shared Ownership property is required to buy as much of an initial
share as they can afford and as such if the purchasers can afford more, a larger tranche
will be sold to them resulting in additional cash receipts at initial sale and an improvement
on the financial performance of the scheme. Additionally, if purchasers cannot afford a
35% initial share, they will be able to purchase 25% or more of the market value.

3.5

This site is within a Designated Protected Area. However, as the authority will not be
seeking Homes England capital grant funding, it is not necessary to apply to Homes
England for a waiver to enable the purchasers of any shared ownership homes to staircase
to full home ownership. Accordingly, the lease agreement will enable the purchasers of the
shared ownership homes to staircase to full home ownership in due course.

3.6

It is recognised that the value of the units will fluctuate through the life of the project, just as
the housing market fluctuates. A valuation will be carried out at various points: prior to
purchase; at completion of shared ownership properties if required; and annually once the
homes are in ownership to ensure that officers monitor the assets in a robust manner. The
offer for these properties has been based on a formal valuation that has been received and
reviewed.

3.7

For rented units the findings of a valuation do not impact on the return generated by the
units because the open market values are not part of the appraisal inputs. However, for the
Shared ownership homes, the open market values will impact on the sale price of the
homes and subsequently, the income received through the shared ownership rental stream
(as this is determined by the unsold equity).

3.8

In November 2020, MHCLG launched a consultation seeking views on how best to
implement a new model for Shared Ownership. The outcome of this consultation is not yet
known. However, officers will monitor any changes to legislation or advice provided by
MHCLG or Homes England. Officers have modelled this scheme on the existing shared
ownership model.

3.9

Whilst it is proposed that this project will be delivered on the existing shared ownership
model, there is a risk that the delivery of shared ownership homes on other sites which are
based on the ‘new’ version of shared ownership may be more desirable to prospective
5

Page 53

purchasers. This could impact the desirability of homes built under the existing shared
ownership model. The proposal for the new model includes some repairs liability for the
landlord and the flexibility to purchase a smaller first tranche as well as smaller increments.
Officers are monitoring the roll out of the new model and will be seeking to market the four
dwellings on this site promptly once within contract.
3.10

Sale of the shared ownership dwellings is dependent upon timely registration of SHDC’s
ownership of the homes, by the Land Registry, upon completion of the acquisition. Delays
with registration have been experienced recently as a result of national lock-down
restrictions. In order to mitigate this potential external delay, officers will seek to submit the
application to register the sale immediately following purchase. If a dwelling has been
reserved there is a route by which a request can be made to expedite the application at the
Land Registry, and this will be requested if appropriate. This then gives time for the
registration to occur concurrently with the onward conveyancing to identified purchasers.

4.0

RIGHT TO BUY SALES RECEIPTS

4.1

On the 19th March 2021, Government published its response to a consultation on
the use of receipts from RTB sales. The consultation response sets out changes to the
RTB receipts system to help local authorities build more council homes. The reforms seek
to give authorities substantially increased flexibilities.

4.2

The changes include extending the timeframe that local authorities have for spending RTB
receipts from 3 years to 5 years; the ability to utilise the receipt for a higher percentage of a
project’s costs; enabling shared ownership tenure dwellings to be funded by receipts;
introducing a cap on the use of RTB receipts for acquisition projects.

4.3

This business case does not take account of the newly published reforms. Appendix A
provides a financial evaluation assuming both that RTB receipts are used to part-fund the
rented dwellings and that RTB receipts are not utilised to fund any dwellings.

5.0

Key Considerations

5.1

There are a number of key matters to consider relating to this scheme which are as follows:


An offer for the dwellings has been submitted and accepted by the developer.



The units are designated s106 affordable homes and as such they are restricted to
use as affordable homes.



RTB receipts held by SHDC could be utilised for this project. Accordingly, if the
RTB receipts part-fund the acquisitions, the return to SHDC will increase as the
direct capital invested decreases.



This project has been financially modelled both with and without utilising RTB
receipts (as shown in Appendix A). The modelling for utilising RTB receipts is
based on the criteria for the use of RTB receipts prior to the announcement of 19th
March (as referenced in Section 4). For the avoidance of doubt this means that the
modelling assumes RTB receipts will be applied to rented dwellings and will support
30% of project costs. If, as part of the due diligence process, a decision is made to
utilise RTB receipts based on the reformed RTB scheme the financial return to the
authority is likely to improve as more receipts could be utilised.

6

Page 54



The Housing Strategy & Enabling Officer has confirmed that there is housing need
identified in this location for two-bedroom accommodation and Housing Services
Manager has been consulted on the project and is supportive of the acquisition.



The financial appraisal assumes that four units are let as Affordable Rent tenure.
This means that Homes England will be required to approve the charging of
Affordable Rent and if the scheme is supported by Members a request will be made
to Homes England to confirm this tenure can be applied.



It is acknowledged that this is not the only scheme which the authority could pursue
and that there are other development sites in the district. However, this business
case should be considered on the basis of the scheme specific information
provided.

6.0

HOUSING NEED

6.1

New affordable homes contribute towards meeting housing need in the district.

6.2

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies a need for 282 new affordable homes
to be provided in the district each year.

6.3

On average, 67 new affordable homes (including rented and shared ownership) have been
provided in the district each year (2016/17 to 2020-21) by SHDC and other Registered
Providers. Between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, there were 103 affordable housing
completions in the district, 46 of which were for rent.

6.4

It is anticipated that the demand for affordable housing will increase as a result of the
pandemic. Analysis of the SHDC Housing Register indicates that the number of applicants
on the register has increased from 350 at the end of March 2020 to 460 at mid-April
2021. Additionally, an increased number of people are unable to address their housing
need once they are threatened with homelessness and are therefore presenting as
homeless.

6.5

The housing register indicates demand for 28 two-bedroom homes within Surfleet and 125
for the district as a whole, as at April 2021.

7.0

PROPOSED TIMETABLE

7.1

If this scheme is supported, the proposed timetable for future activity is as follows:
Indicative date
April 2021

Activity
Cabinet

May 2021

Council

July 2021
July 2021 *

Exchange on contract
Completion. Handover
of properties
End of Defects

July 2022

Decision
To approve the business case for the
acquisition of the properties.
To delegate authority to sign the
contract documentation to S151
Officer or similar, subject to
satisfactory legal due diligence.
To amend the Capital Programme to
approve the spend for this project.
Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers
Delegated to Officers

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

7

Page 55

8.0 OPTIONS
8.1

Option 1: To approve the business case for the purchase of eight s106 affordable
homes; to delegate authority to Officers to conclude the due diligence and complete
the purchase; to amend the HRA Capital Programme.
Under this option, due diligence and contract negotiations would be undertaken, and
external legal services commissioned. SHDC would exchange on the contract, with the
purchase and transfer to occur once the properties are complete.

8.2

Option 2: Do Nothing.
Under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the properties. As a
consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 will not be realised. Officers would
seek to identify alternative appropriate schemes for consideration by Cabinet and Council.

9.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

9.1

The recommendations to proceed with the purchase of eight affordable homes relates to
the expected benefits detailed in section 10.

10.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

10.1

It is anticipated that the report recommendations will support the realisation of the following
benefits:


A return on investment, and the generation of capital receipts from the sale of
the initial tranche of shared ownership properties. As set out within the
financial evaluation (Appendix A), there is a positive business case associated with
the proposed investment.



The delivery of 8 additional dwellings into the HRA. These homes meet the
needs of those who require low cost rented and shared ownership accommodation.



Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location
where there is evidence of a need for additional affordable homes.



The replacement of homes sold through RTB. On average, 23 Council homes
have been purchased by tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the RTB. Since
1st April 2020, a further 14 properties have been sold to tenants. The delivery of
new affordable homes can replace those homes lost each year, mitigating the
impact of these losses on the HRA business plan.



The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited RTB receipts.
Investing the RTB receipts on new rented housing ensures that the receipts do not
have to be returned to Government. Additionally, the return to SHDC will increase
as the direct capital invested decreases.



Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive purchaser of s106
properties, will provide confidence to local developers of the authority’s aspiration to
facilitate sites to come forward and maintain demand for S.106 affordable homes in
the district.

8

Page 56

11.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or
more of these headings, these are identified below.

11.1

Constitutional & Legal

11.1.1 Approving the business case for this project is an Executive function.
11.1.2 Council will be asked to consider amending the Capital Programme to allocate the budget
for this project.
11.1.3 As per previous s106 acquisitions, the legal support for the contract negotiations and
purchase will be provided by an external firm.
11.1.4 As per the decision of the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private Sector Housing regarding
Shared Ownership sales, which became effective from 3rd September 2019, the following
delegations regarding Shared Ownership sales are already in place and will apply to this
scheme:


That authority be delegated to officers to fulfil all necessary activities concerning initial
sales, purchase of additional shares and resales of individual shared ownership
properties to leaseholders.
 That authority be delegated to the Executive Manager – Property and Development, to
agree the value of shared ownership properties at initial sale, resale, and acquisition of
additional shares.
 That authority be delegated to the Executive Manager – Governance to approve and
sign any mortgage offer.
 That authority be delegated to the Senior Legal Officer (as defined in the Constitution currently the Executive Manager – Governance) and any officer authorised by the
Executive Manager – Governance to sign any contracts/agreements which form part of
the Shared Ownership sale and stair-casing procedures which are not under seal.
11.2

Contracts

11.2.1 A contract will be required between SHDC and the developer. The handover of each
property will take place as the homes are ready to be occupied. The contract will contain a
list of requirements and the properties will not be purchased until these requirements have
been met. Additionally, SHDC will appoint a Buyers Representative to provide quality
assurance at handover.
11.3

Corporate Priorities

11.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home’.
11.3.2 The scheme supports “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations.”

9

Page 57

11.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure.”
11.4

Financial

11.4.1 There is a detailed financial evaluation with financial implications set out in confidential
Appendix A.
11.4.2 In terms of financial capacity, there is a total approved capital provision of £13m in the
Capital Programme for the acquisition of new affordable homes by the HRA, for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25.
11.4.3 The Executive will decide whether to support the business case for this project. Council will
consider amending the Capital Programme to include this scheme as an approved scheme.
Both approvals will be necessary for this scheme to proceed.
11.4.4 In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be provided as
Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as Social Rent
tenure instead. This creates a risk that the anticipated financial return will be lower as the
rental income for social rented housing is lower. Sensitivity analysis has been prepared
which indicates that the scheme will still provide a positive financial return if the properties
are provided as Social Rent tenure.
11.5

Reputation

11.5.1 Risks around reputation are mitigated through a robust project management structure. The
Housing Development team work closely with colleagues in Communications on all projects
and meet on a regular basis to ensure that a Communications Plan is in place where
appropriate.
11.5.2 Regular engagement with the developer will be arranged once the site is in progress and
quality assurance will be carried out by an externally appointed Buyers Representative.
11.6

Risk Management

11.6.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify
and manage risk at each stage of the project.
11.6.2 Each project has a risk register that is reviewed throughout the lifecycle of a project by the
Project team.
11.6.3 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the project.
11.6.4 There are specific risks associated with the delivery of shared ownership. A review of these
was summarised in Portfolio Holder decision which became effective from 3rd September
2019. The decision report reviewed the risks associated with shared ownership including:


If a leaseholder secures a mortgage on a property it will be the first charge. In the
event of mortgage default, the lender can repossess the property and sell its
leasehold and/or freehold interest in the property and can offset their reasonable
10

Page 58

expenses against the price they pay to the authority for the Council’s remaining
shares. The maximum claim is the lower of the outstanding mortgage debt
(including costs, interest, and any rent paid by the lender) or the total of the
Council’s share. Any shortfall remains a debt owed to the authority by the
leaseholder.
Mitigation: Full affordability assessments will be undertaken to ensure the
purchaser can afford the property prior to purchase. Additionally, the authority can
signpost the occupier to the Housing Advice team or external money advice
services to prevent the threat of possession action.


As prices fluctuate the value of SHDC’s assets will change and some homes will
cease to be shared ownership dwellings if the occupier purchases additional shares
in the property up to 100% including freehold.
Mitigation: For each sale, staircase or resale, a reassessment of the value of the
property will be undertaken to determine the appropriate sale price. Officers will
obtain expert valuations to determine the appropriate value and ensure the authority
receives the appropriate return in accordance with the business plan.



Following negotiation, the authority and potential purchaser may be unable to agree
the value of the property and accordingly officers may decline a potential
purchasers offer to acquire a property.
Mitigation: Officers will obtain expert valuations to determine the appropriate value
and ensure the authority receives the best return value.



A sale price which is lower than assumed in the business case may be agreed and
this could affect the return on investment.
Mitigation: Officers have and will continue to use prudent financial assumptions to
prepare each business case for new schemes and will obtain independent property
valuations to determine the appropriate value of each home on sale or resale.

11.6.5 As part of the Portfolio Holder decision report, a series of delegations to officers were
agreed in order to reduce any risk by ensuring review at each stage of the process. These
are detailed again in section 11.1.4 of this report.
11.6.6 Officers are ensuring that the increasing number of shared ownership homes owned by
SHDC, is monitored as part of the approval process for each new sale and that any
learning from other sales is carried forward.
11.6.7 The impact of the consultation on a new shared ownership model (as described in
paragraph 3.9) is also being monitored by officers. Whilst this project will be delivered on
the existing shared ownership model there is a risk that the delivery of shared ownership
homes on other sites which are based on the ‘new’ version of shared ownership may
impact the desirability of homes built under the existing shared ownership model. However,
officers will be seeking to market the four dwellings on this site promptly once within
contract.
11.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

11

Page 59

11.7.1 The delivery timetable will be reviewed once final scheme approval is in place. However,
the developer has suggested that the units will be completed in July 2021.

11.7.2 As four of the homes are Affordable Rent tenure these homes are obliged, as a statutory
tenure, to be declared to Homes England. Officers will write to Homes England to seek
their consent to provide these homes as Affordable Rent tenure. Therefore, whilst not
grant-funded units, Homes England are a stakeholder in this acquisition. Consent has been
provided to SHDC, by Homes England, for other S106 schemes which have been delivered
by the authority.
12

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
Pinchbeck and Surfleet ward

13

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
RTB – Right to Buy

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Exempt appendix

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation

12

Page 60

Agenda Item 9.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning
Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Cabinet – 27th April 2021

To:

Council – May 2021
Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager

Subject:

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account

Purpose:

To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build
homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district.

Recommendations to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of twelve homes for the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the funding and
contractual matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a minor
variation to the scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the contract/transfer
document, making an application for Homes England grant funding, utilising RTB sales
receipts for this project and other incidental actions that may be required and approving the
associated due diligence and valuation required to purchase the properties.
Recommendations to Council:
3) To amend the Capital Programme to identify this project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In the last 5 years South Holland District Council has increased investment in new housing
within the district and more recently has strengthened the capacity of the Strategic Housing
Development team. This team appraises potential acquisition and development schemes;
project manages on site delivery; and oversees the handover of new homes into
management for South Holland’s various delivery vehicles.

1.2

Since 2017/18, the Council has supported ten new development schemes:
Scheme
name

Delivery
vehicle

Walters
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

Number
of
dwellings
15

Timescale

Development type

Status

Properties
completed
2017/18

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Page 61

1.3

Tennants
Close,
Long
Sutton

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed
2018/19

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

10

Properties
completed in
May 2019.

Welland Homes
design and build
contract.

Complete

Acquisition
of S106
homes
from
Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

SHDC
HRA

18

Properties
completing in
phases from
March 2019 to
March 2020.

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.

Properties
complete.
End of
defects
stage.

Small
Drove,
Weston

SHDC
HRA

34

Deadline to
complete
properties is
March 2021
(as per Homes
England grant
terms).

Design and build
contract.

Properties
complete.
Defects
liability
period
stage.

Bentley
Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
Complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Donington
SHDC
market
HRA
acquisitions

7

Purchase
complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Wignals
Gate,
Holbeach

SHDC
HRA

19

Welland
Homes

4

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

Northons
Lane,
Holbeach

Properties
completing in
phases from
October 2020
to October
2022
Properties
completing
April 2021

Cobgate,
Whaplode

SHDC
HRA

7

Properties due
to complete
Jan – March
2022

Acquisition of
completed S106
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

Complete

The SHDC Housing Development team has been seeking new development opportunities.
This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and housing associations that
are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district. Through these discussions, a new
scheme to acquire twelve new build homes has been identified.

Page 62

2.0

SCHEME BUSINESS CASE

2.1

Officers have liaised with a local landowner, via an agent, regarding the development and
acquisition of a scheme of 12 one-bedroom apartments at Roman Bank, Spalding. It
should be noted that if this project is supported by Cabinet and Council, officers will
undertake detailed contract negotiations and a thorough due diligence process. Ahead of
formal approval, contract negotiations and due diligence will only proceed to initial stages.

2.2

The scheme will provide a block of 12 one-bedroom apartments across 3 storeys. The
design provides for two separate cores, each serving 6 apartments (2 on each level). The
detailed plans provide 12 car parking spaces, 1 per dwelling.

2.3

The site has a Planning consent and accordingly the layout and mix of dwellings has been
approved by SHDC. The site is not subject to a S106 planning agreement.

2.4

The scheme is proposed to be built of red brick, reconstituted stone sills and a section of
black horizontal boarding to provide contrasting detail to the elevation. The planning
consent requires details of the materials to be agreed between the Developer and Planning
prior to commencement, as a condition of the approval.

2.5

The details of the twelve homes at the centre of this business case are detailed in the table
below.
Location
Roman
Bank,
Spalding

TOTAL

Plot Type
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Tenure

1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
12

Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent

Indicative
handover date
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

2.6

Whilst the homes were not designated as affordable homes in the Planning consent, they
have been assessed by the Housing Team as being suitable for that purpose. The internal
layouts of the flats allow for a combined living/kitchen/diner, a separate double bedroom
and a bathroom. The apartments are stacked identically which reduces the risk of
management challenges around noise transference.

2.7

The SHDC Housing Management team have been consulted regarding the scheme and are
supportive of SHDC taking additional homes in this location and have advised that there is
a strong housing need for this type of accommodation. One-bedroom accommodation is in
high demand and will be a welcome addition to the HRA portfolio, as evidenced in Section
4 below.

Page 63

2.8

An offer has been made to the developer subject to contract, legal due diligence, formal
valuation and full approval. This offer has been accepted. A formal valuation was
completed in April 2020 and reviewed by the RICS registered Valuer in November 2020
which confirms that, as agreed, the deal reflects good value for money. Details of the
valuation are provided in Appendix A.

2.9

The landowner is seeking to develop the site rather than sell the land. Officers have
explored options for the deal structure in conjunction with Portfolio Holder for Assets and
Planning and the Deputy Leader of the Cabinet/Portfolio Holder - Finance, Strategy,
Partnerships and an ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition of the completed properties has been
selected as the preferred option for negotiations regarding this site.

2.10

The Procurement Team has reviewed the structure of the project and are satisfied that this
the project is not subject to procurement or tendering rules as it falls under the exclusion of
acquiring land / property.

2.11

An ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition represents the lowest financial risk to the authority during the
construction of the project. This method of acquisition, whereby the dwellings are only
purchased at completion, limits the authority’s exposure to any development phase risk and
any reputational or financial risk of either the contractor, or developer, becoming insolvent.

2.12

Whilst the units will not be built to a detailed SHDC specification, a specification will be
agreed as part of the contract negotiations. The responsibility for the construction quality
will sit with the developer and is established via contract condition.

2.13

SHDC will be entering into contract with the landowner, as developer, to acquire the
dwellings. The dwellings are to be constructed via a separate contract between the
developer and a contractor. SHDC will not be party to this contract or to the process of the
selection of the contractor. Given the nature of the homes as an ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition,
the authority will have limited influence over the style and construction methodology of the
properties. However, during negotiations, officers have specified that a traditional build
method should be used and not a timber frame construction; this has been accepted.
Officers will ensure that suitable measures will be incorporated into the project to ensure
that fire safety and noise transmission mitigation measures are in place. These will be
sought to be included within the contract so if evidence of the mitigation measures is not
provided, the units will not be acquired. Officers will also work with the developer to agree a
specification for the internal and external communal areas to ensure that they meet the
authority’s needs.

2.14

Officers will negotiate a contract for the purchase of these properties which seeks to
provide the most advantageous position for the authority. A solicitor will be appointed to act
on SHDC’s behalf in order to ensure thorough due diligence will be undertaken on the land
and development, this will included a detailed report on title and review of the statutory
obligations, prior to entering contract.

2.15

Financial due diligence, such as company credit assessment and reference checking, is not
required to be carried out on the land owner or the contractor as SHDC will only purchase
the completed units once evidence is provided that the units are contractually compliant
and have been built, inspected and deemed satisfactory by third party’s such as Building
Control, Warranty Provider and Planning.

Page 64

2.16

The homes will have to be delivered in accordance with the contract and with all
appropriate regulatory certification in place. In addition, the properties will be required to
benefit from a suitable building warranty for a minimum of 10 years. Key document
requirements will be listed within the contract and will need to be provided prior to
completion taking place. The quality of the homes will also be checked by a Buyer’s
Representative appointed to act in the authority’s best interests.

2.17

In the event, that the homes are not constructed in accordance with the terms of the
contract, the authority will not have to purchase them. Officers will maintain regular contact
with the developers through the build process to seek to ensure where possible, that the
homes are delivered as agreed.

2.18

The process of due diligence may impact contract negotiations as more information is
identified about the scheme. The contract is a negotiation between parties and officers will
endeavour to negotiate the best position for the authority throughout. Any elements that
are different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence
review and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual
matters to purchase the properties.

2.19

The site is located in an area of flood risk. The flood risk assessment for the site, carried
out at planning stage, has identified that although the site is in flood zone 3(a), the actual
risk of the site flooding from any Environment Agency watercourse is low. As a preventative
measure flood resilience and resistance measures will be incorporated into the
development as a planning requirement to reduce the risk of flooding. Ensuring that this
planning condition is signed off will be required within the contract prior to purchase. As part
of the due diligence process officers will be reviewing the proposals in relation to this to
ensure that they are acceptable from a long-term management perspective.

2.20

An existing block of apartments, developed and retained by the landowner has already
been completed on the land in front of this site, adjacent to the site entrance. This block is
not included in the project acquisition, however, there is no hard boundary between the two
sites. A private drive is used by the existing flats for access to the rear of the block, access
to two parking spaces, and access to the refuse collection point. This road will also provide
access to the 12 apartments subject to this business case and therefore the access road
will be shared. The private driveway is in possession of the landowner who has not yet
advised whether they intend to include the private driveway in the sale of the block of
apartments or whether a management company will be established for the site. Agreement
on this will form part of the contract negotiations. If the road is not transferred, a service
charge may be applicable and so an allowance for this has been built into the financial
modelling.

2.21

Officers have undertaken a business planning exercise for the delivery of these twelve
homes which is provided at Appendix A. The evaluation shows that the scheme will
provide a financial return for the authority.

2.22

As with all HRA projects a contingency sum has been included within the financial
modelling of the scheme. This amount has been enhanced for this project as the design of
the development includes communal areas which may need an increased specification to
ensure they are suitably robust for the long term management of this block.

Page 65

2.23

The financial assessment assumes that the apartments will be let as Affordable Rent
tenure. The rental charged for these will therefore be inclusive of any service charge
payable by the dwellings.

2.24

Affordable Rented tenure homes will be let at 80% of the local market rent value or at the
Local Housing Allowance. Homes England stipulate a requirement to approve Affordable
Rents being charged on any site which is not grant funded. However, this consent is likely
to be forthcoming. Officers will submit a request to Homes England as part of the due
diligence process. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the
homes to be provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be
provided as Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk as set out in paragraph 9.4.3.

2.25

In terms of the overall Capital Programme for HRA Housing Development, there is total
approved provision of £13m for schemes subject to detailed approval for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25. To date, one scheme has been approved for purchase, leaving
adequate budget to finance this acquisition.

2.26

Delivering new homes for the HRA will mitigate the impact on the HRA business plan of the
loss of homes through RTB sales. It will also improve the nature and mix of homes within
SHDC’s stock. However, it should be noted that if these properties are purchased and let
as affordable homes, the Right to Buy will also apply to these properties. In the event of a
RTB application, the ‘cost floor’ rule will ensure that a tenant’s discount does not reduce the
RTB sale price below the amount that has been spent on the property in the 15 years prior
to RTB; this includes the capital costs of acquisition.

3.0

RIGHT TO BUY SALES RECEIPTS

3.1

On the 19th March 2021, Government published its response to a consultation on the use of
receipts from RTB sales. The consultation response sets out changes to the RTB receipts
system to help local authorities build more council homes. The reforms seek to give
authorities substantially increased flexibilities.

3.2

The changes include extending the timeframe that local authorities have for spending RTB
receipts from 3 years to 5 years; the ability to utilise the receipt for a higher percentage of a
project’s costs; enabling shared ownership tenure dwellings to be funded by receipts;
introducing a cap on the use of RTB receipts for acquisition projects.

3.3

This business case does not take account of the newly published reforms. Appendix A
provides a financial evaluation assuming that RTB receipts are used to part-fund 30% of
total capital costs.

4.0

Key Considerations
There are a number of key matters to consider relating to this scheme which are as follows:


An offer for the dwellings has been submitted and accepted by the developer.



The valuation completed as part of the due diligence process has been carried out
on the basis of ‘Material Valuation Uncertainty’ This is as advised by RICS and is
common across all ‘red book’ valuations carried out during this time. This is as a
result of the valuation process being based upon comparable evidence, which
includes evidence from prior to, as well as during, the pandemic. Therefore, the

Page 66

valuation must be considered with ‘less certainty, and a higher degree of caution’
than in normal times due to the uncertainty around the impact of the pandemic on
the housing market.


As this is an Affordable Rented tenure scheme, but not as a result of a S106
Planning agreement, an application could be made to Homes England to part-fund
the project with Homes England grant funding, subject to meeting the relevant
requirements.



Alternatively, the project is also eligible for the use of Right-to-Buy sales receipts.



If Right to Buy receipts or grant funding is used to part-fund the acquisitions, the
return to SHDC will increase as the direct capital invested decreases. The financial
return for the project is reported in Appendix A.



The Housing team has confirmed that there is housing need identified in this
location for one-bedroom accommodation.



The financial appraisal assumes that the units are let as Affordable Rent tenure.
This means that Homes England will be required to approve the charging of
Affordable Rent and, if the scheme is supported by Members, a request will be
made to Homes England to confirm this tenure can be applied.



If approved, the scheme would be the first apartment block acquired or built for the
authority since around 2006. Care will need to be taken to ensure that internal and
external communal areas are suitable for the authority’s needs. SHDC Housing
officers have experience in delivering flatted schemes, and will liaise closely with
colleagues in Housing Management and Repairs and Property to ensure their
knowledge of managing other blocks in the district is applied to this project.



It is acknowledged that this is not the only scheme which the authority could pursue
and that there are other development sites in the district. However, this business
case should be considered on the basis of the scheme specific information
provided.

5.0

HOUSING NEED

5.1

New HRA homes contribute towards meeting housing need in the district.

5.2

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies a need for 282 new affordable homes
to be provided in the district each year, 85% of which should be for rent and 25% of which
should be one-bedroom accommodation.

3.1

On average, 67 new affordable homes (including rented and shared ownership) have been
provided in the district each year (2016/17 to 2020-21) by SHDC and other Registered
Providers. Between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, there were 103 affordable housing
completions in the district, 46 of which were for rent.

5.4

It is anticipated that the demand for affordable housing will increase as a result of the
pandemic. Analysis of the SHDC Housing Register indicates that the number of applicants
on the register has increased from 350 at the end of March 2020 to 460 at mid-April 2021.
Additionally, an increased number of people are unable to address their housing need once
they are threatened with homelessness and are therefore presenting as homeless.

Page 67

5.5

The housing register indicates a demand for 86 one-bedroom homes for general needs
within Spalding and 134 within the district at in March 2021.

6.0

PROPOSED TIMETABLE

6.1

If this scheme is supported, the proposed timetable for future activity is as follows:
Indicative date
April 2021

Activity
Cabinet

May 2021

Council

May-July 2021

Contract negotiations;
specification agreed
and contractor
identified
Exchange on contract
Completion. Handover
of properties
End of Defects

July 2021
Oct 2022 *
Oct 2023*

Decision
To approve the business case for the
acquisition of the properties.
To delegate authority to sign the
contract documentation to S151
Officer or similar, subject to
satisfactory legal due diligence.
To amend the Capital Programme to
approve the spend for this project.
Delegated to Officers

Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers.

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

7.0

OPTIONS

7.1

Option 1: To approve the business case for the purchase of twelve new build homes;
to delegate authority to officers to conclude the due diligence and complete the
purchase; to amend the HRA Capital Programme.
Under this option, due diligence and contract negotiations would be undertaken, and
external legal services commissioned. SHDC would exchange on the contract, with the
purchase and transfer to occur once the properties are complete.

7.2

Option 2: Do Nothing.
Under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the properties. As a
consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 will not be realised. Officers would
seek to identify alternative appropriate schemes for consideration by Cabinet and Council.

8.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

8.1

The recommendations to proceed with the purchase of twelve homes relates to the
expected benefits detailed in section 9.

9.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

9.1

It is anticipated that the report recommendations will support the realisation of the following
benefits:


A return on investment. As set out within the financial evaluation (Appendix A),
there is a positive business case associated with the proposed investment.

Page 68

10.0



The delivery of 12 additional dwellings into the HRA. These homes meet the
needs of those who require low cost rented accommodation.



Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location
where there is evidence of a strong need for additional affordable homes of this
size.



The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy. On average, 23 Council
homes have been purchased by tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the
Right to Buy. Since 1st April 2020, a further 14 properties have been sold to
tenants. The delivery of new affordable homes can replace those homes lost each
year, mitigating the impact of these losses on the HRA business plan.



The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited RTB receipts.
Investing the RTB receipts on new rented housing ensures that the receipts do not
have to be returned to Government.



Alternatively, in lieu of utilising RTB receipts, the new homes could be partfunded via Homes England grant funding. This is a competitive bidding process
however the new affordable homes programme recently announced, is supportive
of schemes of this type being grant funded.



Additional funding streams will improve the financial performance of the
project. If Right to Buy receipts or grant funding is used to support the scheme, the
return to SHDC will increase as the direct capital invested decreases.



Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive purchaser of dwellings will
provide confidence to local developers of the authority’s aspirations to grow and to
provide new housing solutions within the district.

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or
more of these headings, these are identified below.

10.1

Constitutional & Legal

10.1.1 Cabinet are responsible for approving the business case for this project.
10.1.2 Council will be asked to consider amending the Capital Programme to allocate the budget
for this project.
10.1.3 As per previous acquisitions, the legal support for the contract negotiations and purchase
will be provided by an external firm.
10.2

Contracts

10.2.1 A contract will be required between SHDC and the developer. SHDC has not previously
worked with this land owner/developer. A timetable will be agreed for the handover of the
apartment block when the homes are ready to be occupied and safe, unimpeded access to
the building and external areas is available.

Page 69

10.2.2 The contract will contain a list of requirements and the properties will not be purchased until
these requirements have been met.
Additionally, SHDC will appoint a Buyer’s
Representative to provide quality assurance at handover.
10.2.3 It is anticipated that officers will commence negotiations with the developer regarding
specification and contract terms immediately following Council approval. Once the broad
contract terms have been agreed, the developer is likely to procure a price from a
contractor. Accordingly, it is possible that the contractor will be selected before SHDC signs
the contract.
10.3

Corporate Priorities

10.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home’.
10.3.2 The scheme supports “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations.”
10.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure.”
10.4

Financial

10.4.1 There is a detailed financial evaluation with financial implications set out in confidential
Appendix A.
10.4.2 In terms of financial capacity, there is a total approved capital provision of £13m in the
Capital Programme for the acquisition of new affordable homes by the HRA, for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25.
10.4.3 If this business case is supported by Cabinet, the recommendation to amend the Capital
Programme to include this scheme as an approved scheme, will proceed to be considered
by Council. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be
provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as
Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk that the anticipated financial return will be
lower as the rental income for social rented housing is lower. Sensitivity analysis has been
prepared which indicates that the scheme will still provide a positive financial return if the
properties are provided as Social Rent tenure.
10.5

Reputation

10.5.1 Risks around reputation are mitigated through a robust project management structure. The
Housing Development team work closely with colleagues in Communications on all projects
and meet on a regular basis to ensure that a Communications Plan is in place where
appropriate.
10.5.2 Regular engagement with the developer will be arranged once the contract is agreed and
the site is in progress.
10.6

Risk Management

Page 70

10.6.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify
and manage risk at each stage of the project.
10.6.2 Each project has a risk register that is reviewed throughout the lifecycle of a project by the
Project team.
10.6.3 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the project.
10.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

10.7.1 The delivery timetable will be reviewed once final scheme approval is in place. However,
the developer has suggested that the units will be completed in October 2022.
10.7.2 As all the homes are proposed to be Affordable Rent tenure these homes are obliged, as a
statutory tenure, to be declared to Homes England. Officers will write to Homes England to
seek their consent to provide these homes as Affordable Rent tenure. Therefore, even if
Homes England grant funding is not provided, Homes England are a stakeholder in this
acquisition. Consent has previously been provided to SHDC, by Homes England, for all
non-grant funded Affordable Rent schemes, delivered by the authority.
11.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
Spalding St. Pauls

12.0

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Exempt Appendix

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Christine Marshall, Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer)

To:

Cabinet - 27th April 2021
Council - May 2021

Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager and David Mackinder,
Finance Business Partner

Subject

Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road,
Spalding

Purpose:

To present a business case to Cabinet and to present to Council, as sole
shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the Company to
purchase six houses for the purposes of market rental investment and an
updated Welland Homes Business Plan.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of six houses,
for the purposes of a market rental investment.
2)

That, subject to the refreshed business plan and budget being approved by the Council
in accordance with recommendation 3 below, delegated authority be granted to the
Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to (i) approve the terms of any
loan agreements required; (ii) approve the value and the profile of any periodic cash flow
payments to be made to the Company, as required to support the Company in the
acquisition of the proposed investment properties.

Recommendation(s) to Council:
3) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, and included as an
amendment in the next SHDC Quarterly report to members.
4)

To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25th March 2015, to the
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of use
of reserves and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council Treasury
Management Strategy.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Welland Homes was established by SHDC in 2015. The principal objectives for setting up
the Company were to increase housing supply to address demand; to boost the local
economy; to improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; to set standards for good
housing design; and to generate income for the Council.

1.2

The Council is the sole shareholder of the Company and the Company’s business plan can
only be amended with the approval of the shareholder. However, the Company has six
nominated directors who oversee the activity of the Company. The current adopted
business plan is predicated on the Company owning 60 homes by 2022/23.

Page 73

1.3

The Company now owns 39 market rented homes across 5 sites as shown in the table
below. All properties are let and the low void rates indicate that the properties are in
demand.
Scheme name
Walters Close,
Spalding

Number of dwellings
15

Handover date
2017/18

Tennants Close,
Long Sutton

5

2018/19

Pankhurst Close,
Spalding

10

2019/20

Bentley Court

5

2019/20

Northons Lane,
Holbeach

4

2020/21

Development type
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Welland Homes
design and build
contract.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV

1.4

The original Capital Program was included as Appendix E to the Budget, Medium Term
Plan and Capital Strategy Report to Council on 3rd March 2021, as Item 11 on the agenda.

1.5

Capital funding for new schemes is financed through a mixture of loans (at commercial
rates) and equity provided to the Company by the Council. Given the current Bank of
England base rate, the Council earns a margin on the interest charged to the Company.
Additionally, the council earns a return on the equity invested.

1.6

In return, the Company receives the rental income and pays interest on the loan.

1.7

By March 2021, the Company made sufficient profit to pay charitable donations to local
charities which would have previously been paid by SHDC General Fund.

1.8

The current portfolio of 39 homes is appreciating in value and the current asset value is
significantly greater than the total investment required to deliver those homes.

1.9

The Company incurs Core Business (operating) costs such as insurance, accountancy
services, legal expenses and reimbursement of SHDC staff time for administering board
meetings, managing the property management contract and identifying new business
opportunities.

1.10

Properties owned by Welland Homes are currently managed by Ark Property Services; a
private letting agent with experience of operating in the market rented sector within the
district.

1.11

The Welland Homes Business Plan was most recently updated in March 2021 when the
Council approved funding for the acquisition of four completed dwellings at Northons Lane,
Holbeach.

Page 74

1.12

Welland Homes is continuing to pursue further investment activity for the purposes of
market rent to comply with its Business Plan. This Business Plan assumes that the
Company will have 60 homes in its ownership by October 2022. There have been some
delays to the delivery of new homes due to the impact on the construction sector, SHDC
and the Company, of the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.13

The SHDC Housing Development Team recommenced seeking new development and
acquisition opportunities in Summer 2020.

2.0

NEW BUSINESS SCHEME

2.1

This section provides scheme information. It should be noted that if this scheme is
supported, officers will undertake contract negotiations and detailed due diligence.
However, at this time, ahead of formal approval, negotiations are at initial stages.

2.2

This opportunity originated from an officer led lead via the advertising sales agent. It
relates to the acquisition of 6 new-build 2-bedroom semi-detached houses in Spalding. The
construction of the homes is likely to be completed by August 2021.

2.3

The proposal is for Welland Homes to purchase completed dwellings from a small
construction company. As this is an off the shelf purchase, Welland Homes will only be
required to purchase the homes if they are delivered in accordance with the contract and
subject to completion of satisfactory due diligence.

2.4

Ark Property Centre has indicated that there is demand for this property type in this
location.

2.5

A heads of terms document was drawn up which included all relevant information relating to
the scheme that was known at that time. This was reviewed by the Welland Homes Board
who agreed to make an offer for this scheme. Following negotiation between the company
and developer’s agent, a price was negotiated and agreed ‘subject to contract, formal
approval, formal valuation and due diligence’ between both parties.

2.6

The business case for this acquisition was unanimously approved by Welland Homes
Directors on 6th April 2021. The Company directors considered the business case relating
to the proposed acquisition and the impact on the Company’s Business Plan. The business
case indicated that the target date for acquisition of the dwellings was August 2021 and
built in a delay to assumed occupation dates to mitigate against any delay to the
programme, or in letting the units.

2.7

The business case identified that the scheme was likely to support the Company’s principal
objectives. The key considerations included:
- The scheme will make an appropriate return to Welland Homes to enable the debt to be
serviced.
- The scheme is in Spalding which is a location with good demand for private rented
accommodation.
- The size of the scheme is appropriate.
- The Board is satisfied, based on the current understanding of the rental market and
advice from Ark Property Centre that the properties will be in demand for private rented
accommodation.
- The scheme will provide good quality accommodation close to the town centre.

2.8

The board also considered the scheme costs identified in the business case, details of
which can be found in confidential Appendix 1.

Page 75

2.9

Having regard for the business case, Welland Homes board identified that the scheme met
their objectives in terms of size, location and property type and return on investment. The
board resolved to agree that, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the
relevant legal due diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd
purchase 6 units at Holbeach Road, Spalding, to be let as market rent properties, as per
the Business Plan assumptions.

2.10

A discount has been achieved on individual marketing prices of the units despite a strong
sales market, where sector intelligence suggests that developers are seeking near-toasking price offers. This is enhanced by the ‘race’ to benefit from the pause on stamp duty
until 30th June 2021.

2.11

The Board noted that parking is limited in the vicinity but the properties have been provided
with 1 in-line car parking space each. Should parking restrictions such as double yellow
lines outside of the development be required, then this could be requested via a traffic
regulation order. However, in order to be favourably received by LCC, it would be required
to evidence that parking is or will be an issue.

2.12

The Board also considered the implications of the dwellings not being covered by NHBC
warranty. However, it was noted that the developer will be providing a professional
consultant’s certificate by CMLC of Spalding. This alternative approach has been reviewed
and deemed as sufficient, subject to the strength of the underwriting insurance company.
Further checks will form part of the due diligence process prior to completion.

2.13

The developer is utilising SHDC Building Control for inspections. This provides an additional
level of oversight on the quality of the dwellings. SHDC Building Control have been
attending the site and inspecting progress with the construction. SHDC Building Control
have also confirmed inspection has taken place to the piled foundations. Formal verification
of the Building Control application has been delayed due to Building Control requiring
further information. SHDC Building Control have confirmed that this is not unusual and
officers will monitor to seek to ensure that this process is completed as part of the due
diligence.

2.14

The surface water drainage from the scheme including the parking, will discharge into a
combined on-site connection which will discharge to the maintained sewer under the
highway (maintained by Anglian Water). No soakaways are contained within the
development.

2.15

The refuse collection from the properties will be via roadside collection by SHDC, with bags
to be presented on the relevant collection days.

3.0

Financial Evaluation

3.1

Welland Homes Board reviewed the business case for this scheme and assessed the
impact of this scheme on a refreshed Business Plan. Directors acknowledged the impact
on the current Business Plan and the positive return generated and the potential for the
capital asset to appreciate over time. They were satisfied that this scheme meets their
objectives and they agreed:
 That the scheme be presented to the Council, as Shareholder;
 That, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the relevant legal due
diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd purchase 6 units at
Holbeach Road Spalding, to be let as market rent properties, as per the Business Plan
assumptions.

Page 76

3.2

The financial evaluation of the scheme is summarised in confidential Appendix 1.

3.3

The projected impact of this scheme on the overall Welland Homes Business Plan is set
out in confidential Appendix 3.

3.4

In order to enable Welland Homes to proceed with this project, the Company is seeking
approval from the shareholder to put into place all of the necessary arrangements to enable
the Company to complete the proposed investment.

3.5

These arrangements include Cabinet approving the business case for the acquisition and
subject to Shareholder approval, that a loan and equity investment be made available to
Welland Homes to acquire the units.

3.6

Approval is being sought from Council to approve the changes to the Company’s Business
Plan (in its capacity as sole shareholder), and allocate the necessary finance to this project
to enable the Company to acquire the units.

3.7

The offer accepted is subject to legal due diligence. Welland Homes Board have approved
this scheme and a solicitor has been appointed to prepare a Report on Title to ensure the
units have good and marketable title in advance of the scheme being fully approved by the
Shareholder. As set out in the Service Level Agreement between SHDC and Welland
Homes, these costs will be borne by Welland Homes as part of the total commitment in the
Loan agreement. In the event that the scheme is not supported by the Shareholder, these
costs will be met as revenue costs by the Company.

3.8

A formal valuation has been completed to verify the assumptions made within the appraisal
of the opportunity. This has been carried out by a Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
registered firm, to confirm the purchase achieves good value for money and that the rental
level assumed for the units, is achievable. This was reviewed by the Board prior to the
Board approving the scheme.

4.0

RISK

4.1

Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. The risks are sought to be
identified and managed at each stage of the process of project consideration, and at
regular points as opportunities progress through the governance process.

4.2

The risks associated with this project have been considered by the board and will be
reviewed as the due diligence is undertaken. This project will be added into the risk register
for the Company.

4.3

The key risks associated with this acquisition are identified below:
-

-

Contract negotiations are unsuccessful. Whilst key terms have been agreed, draft
documentation has yet to be reviewed. Officers are seeking to protect the best interests
of the Company and shareholders at all times and external legal specialists are being
appointed to act on the Company’s behalf in these negotiations.
Difficulties in letting the properties. A professional marketing agent is in place to
manage and market the dwellings early. As part of the contract negotiations officers will
seek agreement from the developer to allow early advertising in advance of the
acquisition. Financial modelling does include prudent assumptions around void rates.
Additionally, advice on appropriate rental income has been provided by Ark Property
Centre and verified by the formal valuation completed in order to safeguard the return
expected. A delay has been built in to the cash-flow expected before rent is assumed to
be generated.

Page 77

-

4.4

Quality is not as expected. Financial modelling includes an allowance for a Buyer’s
Representative to carry out a purchasers snag prior to completion to ensure that units
are handed over with a good standard of workmanship. SHDC Building Control team
have commenced inspections of the properties and will continue to monitor along with
CLMC structural inspections. Insurance documentation and certification will be in place
prior to completion.

The key risks for the authority as sole shareholder are as follows:
-

Financial. This risk is mitigated by the efficient running of the Company and the
delivery of the Business Plan. The Council are prudent lenders and oversee their
investment by regular involvement at Board Meetings and by the checks and balances
required to progress Welland Homes investment activity.

-

Reputational. As above, this risk is mitigated by efficient running of the Company.
Professional advice and due diligence is sought at every stage of the process and
effective governance processes are in place to review and monitor all activity. Officers
review Welland Homes’ activity with the shareholder’s interests in mind, as well as that
of the Company.

5.0

IMPACT ON THE BUSINESS PLAN

5.1

The detailed projected financial impact on the Council is set out in Appendix 3.

5.2

It demonstrates that with the benefit of this scheme, there continues to be a beneficial
financial return to the Council from Welland Homes activity. This is forecasted to be
revenue return of over £0.316m per year by 2022-23 comprising equity
dividends/donations, loan interest and staff recharges.

5.3

The key changes to the Welland Homes Business Plan since it was last approved in
January 2021 are summarised below:
 The proposed purchase of 6 additional units by August 2021.
 Scheme 5A (Northons Lane) was purchased by Welland Homes on 31st March
2021, bringing the total number of homes in ownership to 39. This Business Plan
assumed that the homes on scheme 5A would be occupied by August 2021 but it
is likely that the Company will receive rental income on some or all of the
properties by May 2021.
 This business case relates to notional scheme 5B which it was assumed in the
current Business Plan would be for 6 homes and would generate rental income by
1st April 2022. By purchasing the six homes subject to this business case, the
refreshed Business Plan provided at Appendix 2 assumes that rental income will
be generated sooner, by 1st October 2021.
 Scheme 6 which comprises 15 homes will still be assumed to be in management
by 1st October 2022, as per the current plan.

5.4

Welland Homes’ overheads such as core costs and fees for audit, directors’ insurance and
legal services have increased since the original Business Plan which was prepared many
years ago. The refreshed Business Plan provided at Appendix 2 includes the actual costs
for 2019/20 and assumes an inflated level of overheads for future years.

5.5

It should be noted that the capital costs for Scheme 6 reflect current market costs and are
considerably higher than those built into the original Business Plan which were based upon
2017 market prices.

Page 78

5.6

The scheme gross return on equity has been compared to the rest of the Welland Homes
programme and a summary table is attached at confidential Appendix 4. The comparison
summary provided at Appendix 4 identifies that this scheme provides a higher 30 Year
Return on Equity than the Bentley Court and Northons Lane schemes, but lower than the
earlier schemes in the Welland Homes Business Plan. This is due to a number of factors:

The other acquisition schemes; Green Lane and Tennants Close were agreed in
2016 and 2017 respectively. Since these were agreed housing prices have continued
to rise in the district, and the quantum of investment opportunities on the open market
has decreased. This is evidenced by the significant increase in asset value of
Welland Homes existing assets since the original purchases were completed.

The scheme is 6 units and so it doesn’t benefit from the same economies of scale as
at Pankhurst Close and Walters Close.

The scheme is located in Spalding which is a popular residential location in the district
and therefore prices are at a premium.

The post lockdown housing market saw unexpected growth and increased demand
during 2020, meaning that some developers are achieving near-to-asking price offers.

Pankhurst Close was a development scheme as opposed to an acquisition. A
development scheme balances higher risks (due the risks involved in constructing the
properties as opposed to simply acquiring them) with potentially higher rewards
(financial return), and therefore it is not directly comparable with an acquisition
opportunity so needs to be considered separately.

5.7

However, although this Scheme, 5B provides a lower 30 Year Return on Equity than the
earlier schemes in the Welland Homes Business Plan it still provides a positive return and
allows investment in a capital asset with scope for appreciation in value over time.

5.8

The Core Business (Operating) costs for Welland Homes for 2020/21 onwards are
forecasts. They have been calculated based on the actual 2019/20 Company costs, but
are slightly inflated to take account of rising costs. Accordingly, the Business Plan is
predicated on forecasts only. It is possible that these forecasted Core Business (Operating)
Costs could increase further. Gross Scheme Returns are based on accurate forecasts of
likely rental income.

5.9

The total investment required to deliver 60 properties across six schemes is estimated at
Appendix 3.

5.10

The current modelling assumes that the Council’s investment in Welland Homes will be
funded through internal borrowing. While the Bank of England base rate is so low this will
mean that the Council can achieve a higher rate of interest from Welland Homes than by
investing elsewhere. However, it should be noted that, as this is a long term investment,
there is a risk that if the base rate increases there may be an ‘opportunity cost’ to the
authority.

5.11

In line with the delegated authority granted by Council on 25th March 2015 and re-affirmed
within the recommendations within this report, the Executive Director - Commercialisation
(the S151 Officer) will approve the final mix of reserves and borrowing in line with the
Business Plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy.

5.12

The element of funding that comprises a loan or loans will be subject to a formal loan
agreement or agreements which may be protected by way of a charge against the
Company’s assets generally (a floating charge.) Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is
sought to approve the terms of any such agreements.

Page 79

5.13

Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is also sought to approve the process required for the
Company to draw down periodic cash flow payments if required.

5.14

The revised Business Plan was considered and agreed unanimously by the Welland
Homes Directors, subject to approval by the shareholder.

6.0

OPTIONS
Option 1 – To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of six
houses, at Holbeach Road Spalding for the purposes of a market rental investment and to
approve the amended Business Plan.
Option 2 – Do nothing. Without the approval of the shareholder, Welland Homes would be
unable to proceed with the proposed investment. This in turn would limit the delivery of
housing from Welland Homes under the existing Business Plan and leave the Company
unable to deliver forecasted returns.

7.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

7.1

To approve the business case for Welland Homes to acquire six homes in Spalding in order
to realise the expected benefits as detailed in Section 8 below.

8

EXPECTED BENEFITS

8.1

The acquisition of six homes and delivery of this scheme will provide a number of benefits:

Supports the delivery of the wider Welland Homes Business Plan, which will in turn
support the delivery of savings targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Plan

Increases housing supply to address demand;

Boosts to the local economy;

Improves the quality of rented sector accommodation; and

Generates income for the Council.

9

IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Constitutional & Legal

9.1.1 Whilst operational matters in respect of the Company are executive functions, the changes
proposed to the Business Plan result in a need to change the budget. As a result, the final
decision is reserved for Council.
9.1.2 The legal requirements for the acquisition by Welland Homes will be met by an external
solicitor appointed by Welland Homes. Review of the loan agreement, drawn up by
Eversheds on behalf of South Holland District Council, has been carried out by the
Council’s solicitors previously and the same template is proposed to be used for this
acquisition.
9.1.3 The proposed revisions to the Business Plan are consistent with the agreed objectives of
the Company.
9.2

Contracts

Page 80

9.2.1 In capitalising Welland Homes as a means to enable the Company to deliver the project,
the Council will utilise a loan and equity agreement, prepared by external legal advisors.
This loan and equity agreement will act as a contract between the Council and Welland
Homes in relation to the financing arrangement between the two parties.
9.3

Corporate Priorities

9.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your home’ and supports the following
priorities in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023:
 Enable effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and
aspirations to ensure that our residents have access to a range of housing options in
the district;
 Deliver new homes for our residents and provide a dividend to Council through our
Welland Homes housing company; and
 Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the
tenure.
9.4

Financial

9.4.1 There is a detailed financial report with financial implications set out in the confidential
appendices attached. This includes a financial evaluation of this Business Case; a revised
Welland Homes Business Plan; an assessment of the financial impact of the revised
Welland Homes Business Plan on the Council; and a comparison of the financial return
anticipated to be achieved on this scheme alongside forecasts for other approved Welland
Homes projects.
9.5

Reputation

9.5.1 In order to mitigate reputational risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the
administration of Welland Homes as a Company. Reputational risk is a key consideration
within this structure, and is being proactively managed by the project team.
9.5.2 In order to manage reputational risk in terms of the required governance, the project team
have held discussions with the developer to clearly articulate the caveats within the offer,
and the process surrounding the opportunity, so all parties have clear expectations.
9.6

Risk Management

9.6.1 In order to mitigate risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the administration
of Welland Homes as a Company. This risk management structure has been created to
manage the financial, legal, delivery, strategic and reputation risks associated with the
activity of the Company. A risk register for the Company is reviewed by the board and a
separate risk register, from the perspective of the authority is reviewed at the internal
project group meeting.
9.6.2 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the opportunity.
9.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

9.7.1 Welland Homes has an ambition to purchase the homes in August 2021. The financial
modelling of the opportunity has prudent assumptions around income generation and
assumes the units are let from October 2021.

Page 81

9.8

Transformation Programme

9.8.1 Detailed revenue savings arising from the investment in Welland Homes are set out as part
of Confidential Appendix 3. Forecast revenue return of over £0.308m per year comprising
equity donations, loan interest and staff recharges will be achieved by 2022-23 as a result
of this investment and the wider Business Plan. In addition, the Council will also receive
indirect contributions through New Homes Bonus and as a result of an increased Council
Tax base.
9.8.2 In March 2021, Welland Homes Limited provided charitable donations to local charities in
lieu of contributions from the SHDC. The charitable donations removed a financial
commitment from the SHDC General Fund of £111,000, during 2021/22.
10

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1

All

11

ACRONYMS

11.1

None

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Partially exempt

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information))
Appendix 1 –Financial Evaluation
Appendix 2 - Welland Homes Updated Business Plan
Appendix 3 – Financial Impact on Council
Appendix 4 – Comparison with approved Welland Homes Acquisition and Development
Programme Returns.

Page 82

Agenda Item 13.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

